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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning,

          3  everyone. I want to welcome you to City Hall. My

          4  name is John Liu. I have the privilege of chairing

          5  the Transportation Committee of the City Council.

          6                 Today this Committee will hold a

          7  hearing on, and also vote on proposed Intro. No.

          8  420-A. Proposed Intro. 420-A would suspend alternate

          9  side street parking on the Hindu Holiday of Diwali

         10  on a day Laskshmi Puja is observed.

         11                 Diwali is one of the Hindu religion's

         12  most important holidays and passage of this bill

         13  will recognize the significance of Diwali of the

         14  City's Hindu population. Indian and Hindu Americans

         15  have contributed a great deal to our City, and I am

         16  certainly going to urge my colleagues to vote in

         17  support of this bill.

         18                 The prime sponsor of the bill is

         19  Council Member Gale Brewer, who will be joining us

         20  momentarily.

         21                 A second item on our agenda this

         22  morning is an oversight hearing entitled

         23  "Communications During Subway Emergencies: Can

         24  Anyone Hear Us Now?"

         25                 The MTA has an enormous job. It
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          2  transports over 2.4 billion people a year, equal to

          3  one-third of all mass transit riders and two-thirds

          4  of all rail riders in the United States.

          5                 Any agency that handles this volume

          6  of people would be expected to have clear and

          7  concise plans on dealing with emergencies,

          8  particularly with regard to communicating with the

          9  general public.

         10                 However, last month the Permanent

         11  Citizens' Advisory Committee to the MTA, conducted a

         12  study on these emergency response plans, and found

         13  inconsistencies across agencies and dire needs to

         14  improve emergency response plans and procedures at

         15  New York City Transit.

         16                 After the PCAC released this report,

         17  there were news reports that found that 30 percent

         18  of all subway stations lacked public address systems

         19  that certainly would impede any kind of response in

         20  an emergency crisis.

         21                 The PCAC report makes many

         22  recommendations to the MTA and its operating

         23  agencies on improving their emergency response plans

         24  and procedures, and our hearing today will review

         25  the PCAC recommendations, and investigate what
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          2  actions the MTA has taken or is planning to take in

          3  response to these recommendations.

          4                 I'm delighted to be joined by members

          5  of this Committee, Council Member Sara Gonzalez from

          6  Brooklyn, Council Member Larry Seabrook from the

          7  Bronx, Council Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx,

          8  and we're joined by Council Member Gale Brewer, the

          9  prime sponsor of Intro. No. 420-A, that seeks to

         10  recognize Diwali as a holiday here in New York City.

         11                 And at this point I'd like to offer

         12  the floor to Council Member Gale Brewer for some

         13  opening remarks.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm sorry to

         15  be late, Chairman.

         16                 I'm here to support Intro. 420-A to

         17  talk specifically about suspension of alternative

         18  side of the street parking on the Hindu Festival of

         19  Diwali.

         20                 The reason that I feel it is

         21  important to single out one particular day during

         22  that very important festival is that this is a

         23  wonderful community that is growing in our City. It

         24  has had the foresight to participate in so many of

         25  our civic affairs, and to figure out a way of being
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          2  part of the growth of the vibrancy of our great City

          3  of New York.

          4                 There is a tradition in this City of

          5  celebrating holidays and, of course, of doing it in

          6  peace and quiet, and one way to do that is to be

          7  sure that one's vehicle can remain in its same

          8  place, but at the same time it says that the

          9  Indian-American community is very much a part of our

         10  wonderful City.

         11                 So, I thank you for having this bill

         12  on the agenda today, and I look forward to the

         13  testimony.

         14                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         16  Member Brewer.

         17                 We're delighted to have Chief Bernard

         18  Sullivan representing the Administration, on behalf

         19  of the New York City Department of Sanitation. He

         20  will testify first with regard to Intro. 420-A, and

         21  then we have several members of the public who will

         22  testify.  After Chief Sullivan testifies, we will

         23  hear from the first panel consisting of Mr. Udai

         24  Tambar and Mr. Gadadhara Pandit Dasa.

         25                 Chief Sullivan, thank you very much
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          2  for joining us this morning.

          3                 CHIEF SULLIVAN: Good morning,

          4  Chairman Liu, and members of the Committee on

          5  Transportation. I am Bernard Sullivan, Chief of

          6  Cleaning, New York City Department of Sanitation. I

          7  am here to testify on Intro. 420 under consideration

          8  today.

          9                 This bill would add the Hindu

         10  Festival of Diwali to the Department's schedule of

         11  street cleaning suspension.

         12                 In my testimony I will discuss the

         13  technical and operational aspects of the

         14  Department's street cleaning responsibilities that

         15  will be impacted by the suspension of alternate side

         16  parking.

         17                 Litter control and street cleanliness

         18  in New York City are important quality of life

         19  concerns for the Department of Sanitation.

         20                 The Department is responsible for

         21  ensuring the cleanliness of over 6,000 linear miles

         22  of the City streets and adjacent sidewalks.

         23                 I am sure you will agree that keeping

         24  our streets clean is not an easy task, given the

         25  number of motorists and pedestrians that travel and
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          2  unfortunately litter them daily.

          3                 Mechanical brooms are the

          4  Department's most cost effective method of street

          5  cleaning.

          6                 Alternate side parking regulations

          7  provide curbside accessibility so that sanitation

          8  workers can operate mechanical brooms to clean over

          9  6,000 linear miles of City streets covered under the

         10  Alternate Side Parking Program.

         11                 While the mechanical broom can sweep

         12  an average of 12 curb miles per shift, a sanitation

         13  worker using a hand broom manually can sweep an

         14  average of only one curb mile.

         15                 During the early- to mid-1990s when

         16  the Department's street cleaning budget was reduced,

         17  the Department consistently maintained acceptable

         18  levels of cleanliness.

         19                 In recent years, however, the

         20  Department has worked diligently to ensure that

         21  levels of street cleanliness in neighborhoods

         22  Citywide are improved and maintained.

         23                 As a result, the City has achieved

         24  historic levels of street cleanliness.

         25                 Of course, clean streets present a
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          2  positive image for New York City and like safer

          3  streets, has made the City an attractive place for

          4  business and tourism which greatly benefits the

          5  City's economy.

          6                 In Fiscal Year 1995, the Department

          7  implemented its segmented mechanical broom street

          8  sweeping program reducing the amount of time parking

          9  is restricted for street cleaning purposes.

         10                 The program initiated for the benefit

         11  of both residential and commercial establishments

         12  reduces the no parking time from three hours to 90

         13  minutes on weekdays.

         14                 On Saturdays the Department usually

         15  provides mechanical broom sweeping only along the

         16  metered streets in the commercial areas.

         17                 The three districts in Staten Island,

         18  and one in Q 10 and one in Queens 11 and Queens

         19  East, will not have segmented sweeping since they do

         20  not have cleaning regulations.

         21                 In some neighborhoods of the City

         22  that are less densely populated, street cleaning is

         23  only scheduled one time per week on each side.

         24                 In these one-time areas, the

         25  Department mechanically sweeps one side of the
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          2  street on one day, and the opposite side of the

          3  street on another.

          4                 It is these areas that are most

          5  likely to be impacted by suspended street cleaning

          6  when it occurs. When the streets are not swept for a

          7  period of time, extensive litter accumulate along

          8  street curbsides.

          9                 This is especially noticeable in

         10  commercial areas on Sunday evenings when street

         11  cleaning has not occurred for two days.

         12                 In the past, the Department has

         13  testified on similar bills and opposed all of them.

         14  Today our position remains unchanged. The effect of

         15  this bill lengthens the list of suspension days

         16  during the calendar year when the Department will be

         17  prevented from providing street cleaning services

         18  across the entire City.

         19                 At present, the law suspends

         20  alternate side parking rules on 33 legal and

         21  religious holidays for a total of 39 days during

         22  this year, excluding those days that fall on a

         23  Sunday when the Department cannot provide mechanical

         24  broom street cleaning service.

         25                 Eliminating additional days from the
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          2  Department's schedule and ability to effectively

          3  clean the streets by mechanical brooms will greatly

          4  impact community cleanliness.

          5                 It is for this reason that the

          6  Department of Sanitation respectfully opposes Intro.

          7  420. I would be happy to answer your questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Chief Sullivan,

          9  thank you for your testimony. It is clear what the

         10  Department's position is, and I want to thank the

         11  Department of Sanitation and you for keeping our

         12  streets as clean as they are at historic levels.

         13                 Are there any questions from Council

         14  members?

         15                 Thank you, Chief Sullivan.

         16                 CHIEF SULLIVAN: You're welcome.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this point we'll

         18  call up our first panel of witnesses. Mr. Udai

         19  Tambar please approach to -- please come up to the

         20  witness table. And also Gadadhara Pandit Dasa.

         21                 After this panel completes its

         22  testimony, we will proceed to the next panel,

         23  consisting of Mr. Shiv Dass, Mrs. Urmilesh Arya, and

         24  Mrs. Kanchana Poola.

         25                 Mr. Tambar, please proceed when
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          2  you're ready.

          3                 MR. TAMBAR: Sure. Thank you, member,

          4  Council Member Liu, Brewer, Seabrook, Koppell and

          5  Gonzalez for inviting me to join you here today.

          6                 I'm the Program Director for the

          7  Indian-American Center for Political Awareness,

          8  Local Leadership Development Program of New York

          9  City, which was created to develop young

         10  Indian-American leaders to engage more in local

         11  politics. We've placed interns in the offices of

         12  Council Member Liu, Council Member Brewer, Council

         13  Member Weprin and Council Member Gerson for the past

         14  three years.

         15                 I'm also the Assistant Director for

         16  the Policy Research Institute for the Region at

         17  Princeton University, which was created to focus on

         18  public policy issues impacting the region of New

         19  Jersey, New York City and Philadelphia.

         20                 The here to emphasize the importance

         21  of Diwali to Hindus and people of South Asian

         22  descent in New York City and to explain how

         23  approving the legislation will benefit not only

         24  Indians but all of New York City.

         25                 Diwali is perhaps the most well-known
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          2  of the new festivals in the religion. It's the

          3  religion's holiday similar to Yom Kipur and Judaism.

          4  It's often referred to as the "Festival of Light,"

          5  and it's celebrated throughout India in the various

          6  states and regions for different reasons, but often

          7  represents the beginning of the Hindu New Year.

          8                 Diwali is a personal, people-oriented

          9  holiday when enemies are forgiven, families and

         10  friends meet to celebrate with affection and

         11  enthusiasm.

         12                 And Diwali is also based on a Lunar

         13  Calendar that falls around November, late October

         14  and November, and similar to Christmas in America,

         15  has grown to become a social as well as a religious

         16  holiday.

         17                 The importance of Diwali has grown

         18  not only for Hindus outside of India, but also those

         19  of South Asian descent throughout the world.

         20                 The holiday serves as a way for the

         21  South Asian diaspore to remain connected with a

         22  culture and heritage. According to the population

         23  division of the New York City Department of

         24  Planning, there are about 370,000 New Yorkers who

         25  were born in South Asia or in countries with
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          2  substantial populations of South Asians, those

          3  countries are like Guyana and Trinidad, and there

          4  are about 600,000 people like this in the metro

          5  area.

          6                 In my testimony they're more

          7  detailed, on page three, that provides the detailed

          8  numbers. These numbers do not include South Asians

          9  born in America. Hence, the numbers I just said are

         10  actually an under-representation of the number of

         11  people impacted.

         12                 Given its large and growing

         13  population, it is only fair that the Hindu community

         14  be recognized by the City as other religions. New

         15  York Street already suspends alternate side of the

         16  street parking from Jewish, Christian and Muslim

         17  Holidays and the Asian Lunar New Year. This

         18  legislation will allow one of the City's

         19  fastest-growing communities to better celebrate its

         20  heritage and be more visible in its cultural

         21  landscape.

         22                 In addition, as you know, a lot of

         23  the City's residents leave to the suburbs to do

         24  shopping. Residents of the suburbs often come into

         25  the City for their religious and cultural needs, and
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          2  the Hindu community is no different.

          3                 At the times of religious holidays,

          4  especially during Diwali, you can find the New York

          5  City Hindu temples and community centers overflowing

          6  with patrons. Many of the temples, including the

          7  Hindu Temple Society of North America in Flushing,

          8  are located in residential neighborhoods with poor

          9  parking facilities.

         10                 So, the suspension of alternate side

         11  of the street parking rules on Diwali will allow

         12  more people to celebrate the festival.

         13                 The more convenient it is for

         14  visitors to come to the City on Diwali, the more

         15  likely they are to visit local businesses as well.

         16                 At the cost of not cleaning one side

         17  of the street for one day of the year, the City will

         18  not only benefit by adding to the mosaic of the

         19  City, but also increase tax revenues from increased

         20  commercial activities.

         21                 In conclusion, New York City has

         22  always been at the vanguard of what the rest of the

         23  country will do. New York City takes this step,

         24  recognizing its increasing cultural and religious

         25  diversity, it will set a precedent for other cities
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          2  and municipalities throughout the country to do the

          3  same.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 MR. PANDIT DASA: Thank you very much.

          7  It's a pleasure and honor to be here. My name is

          8  Gadadhara Pandit Dasa.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can you move the mic

         10  closer to you? Just pull it closer.

         11                 MR. PANDIT DASA: Okay?

         12                 So, my name is Gadadhara Pandit Dasa.

         13  I am a monk in the Hare Krishna movement, almost

         14  known at The International Society of Hare Krishna

         15  Consciousness. I'm also a Chaplain, and serve as a

         16  Religious Life Advisor for the Hare Krishna Campus

         17  Ministry at Columbia University, and serve as a

         18  priest and spiritual counselor at our temple in

         19  Manhattan. So, as with other Hindu temples, Diwali

         20  is also a very significant part of our festivals and

         21  of our celebrations.

         22                 It's important to understand that

         23  Hinduism is a very large umbrella within which there

         24  are many different religious beliefs, many different

         25  philosophical teachings, many different ritualistic
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          2  practices and also many different celebrations and

          3  festivals that are very particular to each sect of

          4  Hinduism.

          5                 However, the unique thing about

          6  Diwali is that practically all of India, the Hindu

          7  and even non-Hindu community within India, come to

          8  celebrate this very wonderful festival, so it has a

          9  very unique position in that it's able to unite and

         10  bring together the Hindu communities, even though

         11  they have so many different, there are so many

         12  different diversities within the Hindu faith. This

         13  one festival has the ability to bring together

         14  everybody under one roof.

         15                 So, literally the meaning of Diwali

         16  is a row of lamps, and in this festival and

         17  throughout homes lamps are lit, the sign of good

         18  conquering evil, removing the darkness from within

         19  our heart, and the significance of this festival can

         20  be found in the Hindu epic called the Ramayana. In

         21  this epic, Lord Rama conquers Ravana, who represents

         22  qualities such as envy, anger, pride, greed and

         23  illusion. And thus this conquest of good over evil

         24  encourages and inspires the Hindu community and all

         25  others to similarly work on purification of heart,
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          2  the removing such qualities as envy and anger from

          3  within our heart, and thus we can illuminate our

          4  heart with a lamp of knowledge and invite God to

          5  reside within our heart.

          6                 So, every year hundreds and millions

          7  of Hindus are inspired to live more virtuous lives

          8  through the inspiration that they get from this

          9  festival.

         10                 So, it's not only that this festival

         11  is probably one of the largest celebrated festivals

         12  by the Hindu community, it's probably also the

         13  oldest, going back historically, furthest back,

         14  according to our scriptures.

         15                 So, thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         17                 We've been joined by Council Member

         18  Joseph Addabbo from Queens. And Council Member Helen

         19  Sears from Queens, a member of this Committee, is

         20  not able to attend this hearing today, but she is a

         21  very strong supporter of this bill, and in fact has

         22  asked that our Committee take up this matter as soon

         23  as possible.

         24                 Thank you very much, gentlemen, for

         25  joining us.
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          2                 I'd like to invite our next panel to

          3  come up to the witness table. Mr. Shiv Dass, Mrs.

          4  Urmilesh Arya, and Mrs. Kanchana Poola, accompanied

          5  by John Albert.

          6                 After this panel completes its

          7  testimony, we'll hear from the following panel

          8  consisting of Rupe Hasad and Rajiv Gowda.

          9                 Mr. Dass, it's a pleasure to have you

         10  here in the Council Chambers. Please proceed.

         11                 MR. DASS: Good morning, Mr. Chairman.

         12  Good morning, honorable Council members.

         13                 My name is Shiv Dass. I am President

         14  of the Jackson Heights Merchants Association, and

         15  with me, Mike Leeks, and I am proud to be

         16  representing the most active trading community that

         17  has made tremendous amount of contribution to the

         18  business district of Queens, besides making

         19  recognizable contribution in wake of national or

         20  international tragedies.

         21                 The Business District of Jackson

         22  Heights mainly has the businesses and traders of

         23  Indian origin, and I would like to take this

         24  opportunity make a fervent appeal to recognize

         25  Diwali, a very important Hindu Festival that
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          2  symbolizes the victory of good over the evils.

          3                 In the present world we need to have

          4  a victory over all evils and that is what this

          5  Indian Hindu Festival symbolizes.

          6                 I propose that alternate side of

          7  street parking rules be suspended on this day, to be

          8  termed as restricted holiday.

          9                 Mr. Chairman, the City of New York is

         10  known worldwide as a melting pot and has absorbed

         11  and respected the feeling of people of all walks of

         12  life, may that be ethnicity, religion, faith and

         13  belief.

         14                 This great City has been the hot

         15  place for people across the globe to be chosen as a

         16  new home because of its warm acceptance for a new

         17  comer and multi-culturalism that sends out a strong

         18  and clear message that humanity and human beings is

         19  the foundation for civilized and strong society and

         20  the set principals set forth by the City, of New

         21  York City, is being followed by the whole universe.

         22                 This great City has unique qualities.

         23  Christians, Jewish, South Americans, Muslims, Hindus

         24  and other community members, go on and on have lived

         25  and worked together and flourished in the City.
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          2                 New York City is just not a financial

          3  and business capitol of the world, but it is a house

          4  to a huge family representing ethnic diversity and

          5  respect for all. The history speaks for itself, City

          6  of New York in its own spirit has honored all and

          7  been generous enough to recognize every religion on

          8  the earth and declared the important festivals as

          9  restricted holidays and suspended alternate side

         10  parking to mark the occasion.

         11                 I am glad to further apprise this

         12  august gathering that during last few decades

         13  hundreds of thousands of Hindus, may that be from

         14  India, UK, Africa, Bangladesh, Bhutan and many more

         15  countries to list, has made this city a home and

         16  prospered working at the high ranking positions may

         17  that be City, State, federal, corporate sector or

         18  medical, and any hospital technical fields.

         19                 The Astronaut Late Kalpana Chawala is

         20  the one name to mention, that when it comes to pay

         21  back to the adopted land, this Indian community does

         22  not look back and has proved their worth all the

         23  way.

         24                 Hindus are known for their tolerance

         25  and obedient to the law of the land besides being
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          2  hard working and cooperative to all, non-violence is

          3  the theme of Hinduism.

          4                 Diwali celebration has a great

          5  significance for any Hindu family because it is the

          6  source of tolerance and non-violence.

          7                 The Festival is celebrated worldwide

          8  beside big time celebration in New York City,

          9  including South Seaport and Jackson Heights.

         10                 The celebration in Jackson Heights

         11  and the South Seaport has been attracting thousands

         12  of people, hundreds of thousands of people from all

         13  countries. The top-notch politicians to celebrities

         14  from India, as well as United States of America,

         15  does not miss the opportunity to make their presence

         16  felt with the jubilant and overwhelmed thousands of

         17  people.

         18                 Diwali, a festival of lights,

         19  celebrated on Kalpana Chawala Way in Jackson Heights

         20  also attracts hundreds of thousands of people from

         21  across the country leading to thriving business in

         22  the entire business district.

         23                 Keeping in view the huge Hindu

         24  population in the New York City, and attendees at

         25  this sacred festival, celebration needs to be
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          2  recognized and alternate side parking be suspended

          3  on that day to mark the great occasion.

          4                 This year Diwali falls on November

          5  1st, 2005. It changes every year with the direction

          6  of the moon, Lunar Calendar. The festivity season of

          7  Diwali falls around the late October to early

          8  November on the last day of the Hindu calendar.

          9                 Most importantly, Diwali introduces

         10  the beginning of Hindu New Year to the Hindu

         11  Community worldwide.

         12                 We, the Indian Americans, as a whole

         13  will greatly appreciate your support for the

         14  legislation paving the way for recognizing this

         15  great and most significantly religious festival in

         16  the life of every Indian.

         17                 New York City's stamp to approve the

         18  legislation will be greatly appreciated worldwide.

         19                 I would like to take this opportunity

         20  to invite all Committee members, on behalf of the

         21  entire business community of Jackson Heights, the

         22  Indian community members to join us for a day long

         23  Mega Diwali Celebration at 74th Street Kalpana

         24  Chawal Way in Jackson Heights on October 9, 2005,

         25  Sunday.
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          2                 The event that begins with a lunch at

          3  1:00 p.m. at Indian Cuisine Delhi Palace has

          4  colorful day-long celebration featuring Indian

          5  delicacies to cultural programs and National and

          6  International leaders, as well as celebrities

          7  conveying their well wishes on this great occasion.

          8                 The formal invitation with due

          9  respect will follow and I request all of you to

         10  please attend this gala event.

         11                 I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for

         12  patiently listening to my views about the issue and

         13  with permission of the Chair, I will request my

         14  colleague, Subhash Kapadia, our Senior Advisor to

         15  the Association, to further apprise you in brief,

         16  very brief, about the significance of the Diwali,

         17  the festival of lights, and its impact on lives of

         18  Indian Americans, Trading Community.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Please

         21  proceed.

         22                 MR. KAPADIA: My name is Subhash

         23  Kapadia. I am the Senior Advisor and pioneer of

         24  Jackson Heights Merchant Districts.

         25                 Mr. Chairman, honorable Council
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          2  member, ladies and gentlemen, India is land of

          3  festivals. Diwali is a festival of all colors

          4  celebrated by Hindus and Indians all over the world.

          5  The festival popularly known as festival of lights,

          6  symbolizes the victory of good over evil.

          7                 This festival is not just

          8  celebrations, but gives a message of unity,

          9  diversity, peace, non-violence and brotherhood.

         10                 Above all, the message during the

         11  festival is clear, that it means truthfulness and

         12  transparency in the life of each individual.

         13                 Diwali is an occasion when dear ones

         14  are invited to each other's homes, exchanging the

         15  sweets and making comfort to all that eliminates

         16  bitterness of mankind.

         17                 The four days' festivity has glamour

         18  in its own form. Preparation for the festival begins

         19  much in advance, that leads to renovation of homes,

         20  decoration, splendid receptions for old and new

         21  comers in the family and friend circle.

         22                 It's a great -- even all the houses

         23  are decorated with best of ability, entrances are

         24  made colorful with lovely traditional Rangoli

         25  Designs that welcomes Lakshmi, the goddess of
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          2  Wealth, we call Laskshmi Puja.

          3                 The traditional celebrations also

          4  symbolize to pay the respect to all elders in family

          5  and friends. It has a unique feature of lighting

          6  lamps that brings in the message of attainment of

          7  wealth, prosperity, knowledge, peace, fame, and good

          8  luck to all humankind.

          9                 It is a festival that greets all for

         10  the betterment, instill the charity in the hearts of

         11  all. The tradition is not limited to household only

         12  but goes around for all employer, employee

         13  everywhere.

         14                 It is not just an event or

         15  celebration, it is our way of letting people know of

         16  our rich culture and heritage, and I hope all of you

         17  will join us on the auspicious day to celebrate the

         18  victory of good over evil.

         19                 I thank you all to consider, for

         20  recognize this gala festival that is a main event in

         21  the lives of all Indian Americans.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         24                 Dr. Arya, please proceed.

         25                 DR. ARYA: Good morning. I'm Dr.
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          2  Urmilesh Arya, the immediate past president of

          3  Association of Indians in America. The current

          4  president of AIA New York Chapter is Mr. Arish

          5  Sahani, he's here. If you permit, he will tell you

          6  about Diwali celebration at South Street Seaport on

          7  October 2nd in New York City.

          8                 Honorable Chairman, John Liu, Council

          9  Member Gale Brewer, all other Council members,

         10  elected officials, invited guests, ladies and

         11  gentlemen, it is truly an honor for me to be here

         12  and give my testimony for this great Hindu Festival

         13  Diwali, so-called Festival of Lights.

         14                 As way of background, AIA is the

         15  grassroot organization established in 1967, to

         16  maintain rich Indian heritage in the future

         17  generations of Indian American community, to promote

         18  Indian culture in the mainstream of America and to

         19  develop a strong bond of friendship between the two

         20  countries, India and America.

         21                 At present we have 19 chapters of AIA

         22  throughout the country, New York chapter is the

         23  oldest and largest.

         24                 AIA has been the vanguard for the

         25  Indian community. We helped in getting the minority
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          2  status for Asian Indian community in 1970.

          3                 We channeled funds and equipment for

          4  relief work for the victims of earthquake in Gujarat

          5  and the Tsunami relief efforts in India.

          6                 In addition to helping our homeland,

          7  we are highly committed to assist our adopted land.

          8  We raised funds for the victims of 9/11 and Katrina

          9  disaster. In fact, this Diwali event at South Street

         10  Seaport, we are planning to set up the booth for

         11  Katrina relief funds and will encourage the

         12  community for their generous contribution.

         13                 Registration drive is also an

         14  integral part of AIA's activities.

         15                 Let me tell you a little about

         16  Diwali.

         17                 The festival celebrates good

         18  overcoming evil, and the establishment of peace.

         19  Families observe the holiday by decorating their

         20  houses and business places with rows of lights. That

         21  is why it's called "Festival of Light," and also

         22  enjoy the fireworks.

         23                 It is the biggest Hindu Festival

         24  celebrated in India, as well as by Indians all over

         25  the world.
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          2                 On this day, families worship Laxmi,

          3  the Goddess of Wealth, so-called Laskshmi Puja, and

          4  visit temples.

          5                 Diwali is comparable to Christmas and

          6  Yom Kippur.

          7                 Seventeen years ago, AIA New York

          8  Chapter started celebrating Diwali at South Street

          9  Seaport on first Sunday of October in New York City

         10  to help New Yorkers in better understanding of

         11  Indian culture.

         12                 Since then, this celebration has

         13  continued to grow. Over 100,000 people of various

         14  ethnic groups join this celebration. In last two

         15  years, AIA celebrated Diwali at the City Hall with

         16  the help of Council Member Alan Gerson, in the

         17  Gracie Mansion, with Mayor Bloomberg and other

         18  elected officials, and in the White House with Mr.

         19  Carl Rove, the Chief Advisor to President Bush.

         20                 Last year Governor George Pataki

         21  graced the festival at South Street Seaport, along

         22  with many Congressmen and Council members. The

         23  actual Diwali day is usually in November, and this

         24  year Diwali is on the 1st November, the Tuesday.

         25                 The City Council has always been a
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          2  friend of AIA and Indian community. Suspending the

          3  parking rules on the day of Diwali would help

          4  thousands of Hindu families to attend temples and

          5  visit families and friends.

          6                 I am highly thankful to Council

          7  members Gale Brewer for introducing this bill. I am

          8  highly thankful to Council Member, the Chairman John

          9  Liu, and his Committee, for organizing this

         10  testimony. I'm thankful to all the Indian community

         11  leaders and AIA members who are here for this noble

         12  cause.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 If you permit me, I would like Mr.

         15  Arish Sahani.  He is the current president, to just

         16  talk in brief about Diwali at South Street Seaport

         17  for two more seconds.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, but please keep

         19  it as brief as possible.

         20                 We are going to hear from Ms.

         21  Kanchana Poola immediately afterwards, and then we

         22  have one more panel to go. Please keep it brief,

         23  sir. Thank you.

         24                 MR. SAHANI: Dear brothers and

         25  sisters, my name is Arish Kamal Sahani. I'm the
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          2  present president of AIA. Let's not forgot, Columbus

          3  journey, they were looking for India and discovered

          4  America. AIA is in New York. This time Columbus wish

          5  is fulfilled. He was looking for India, Indians are

          6  here now. It's time to recognize India. What could

          7  be better way than recognizing its age-old

          8  tradition, festival, culture. Diwali is one of the

          9  biggest festival celebration in India and now in the

         10  world where Indians are living. We should all be

         11  proud of Indians. In Hindu culture, only one country

         12  who has not attacked any country in history, even

         13  being attacked many times.

         14                 We are not asking much, just

         15  suspension of parking for one day when this

         16  festivity is going on, which promotes business,

         17  brotherhood, joy and join the community.

         18                 Also, the request is not very

         19  special. This kind of City gesture is already

         20  extended for other religions, religions like Jews,

         21  Muslims in the City. Time is now also to recognize

         22  Hindu, most useful, loving citizens of the City, to

         23  be respected and recognized.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. And now
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          2  Ms. Kanchana Poola. After Ms. Kanchana Poola

          3  testifies, we will hear from the final panel on this

          4  issue, consisting of Rajiv Gowda, Giri Chhabra,

          5  Mukesh Patel and Subhash Kapadia.

          6                 MS. POOLA: Good morning. My name is

          7  Kanchana Poola and I am the President of New York

          8  Tamil Sangam. Before I begin my testimony, I want to

          9  thank Council Members Gale Brewer and Transportation

         10  Committee Chair John Liu for inviting me and my

         11  colleague Albert Chelidra (phonetic) to the Council

         12  Chambers to speak about suspending the ultimate side

         13  of street parking rules for Deepavali. I am here to

         14  emphasize the importance of Deepavali to Hindus and

         15  all persons of Indian descent in New York,

         16  especially to those who claim Tamil as a linguistic

         17  and cultural marker.

         18                 As way of background, New York Tamil

         19  Sangam represents more than 450 families in Tamil

         20  origin living in tri-state area in New York, voice

         21  of more than 50 million people. Tamils can be found

         22  all over the world, particularly in Tamil Nadu in

         23  South India, Sri Lanka, Malaysia, Singapore and

         24  right here in New York metropolitan area. Started in

         25  19723, the Tamil Sangam is one of the oldest Indian
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          2  cultural associations in the United States. The

          3  Sangam's mission is to keep our ancient and rich

          4  cultural traditions alive for the coming generations

          5  of Tamil-Americans.

          6                 To keep our traditions alive, we

          7  celebrate Deepavali. Deepavali is the Hindu Festival

          8  of Lights, and most popular festival from India, and

          9  is also an occasion for celebrations by Jains and

         10  Sikhs, as well as Hindus.

         11                 The festival covers five days and is

         12  the favorite amongst children. The festival

         13  celebrations celebrates the victory of evil over --

         14  good over evil, as it's been emphasized before, not

         15  to be repetitive, but light over darkness and

         16  knowledge over ignorance.

         17                 Although the actual legends that go

         18  with the festival are different, and different parts

         19  of India, the festival a great unifying holiday

         20  where everyone participates. In America, Deepavali

         21  is a symbol for all Indians, no matter what

         22  religion. The holiday serves as a way for all

         23  Indians to reconnect as a community with our culture

         24  and heritage.

         25                 In a recent editorial, the Times of
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          2  India newspaper summed up the modern meaning of

          3  Deepavali, and I quote:

          4                 "Regardless of the mythological

          5  explanation one prefers, what the festival of lights

          6  really stands for today is the reaffirmation of

          7  hope, a renewed commitment of friendship and

          8  goodwill, and a religiously sanctioned celebration

          9  of the simple, and some not so simple, joys of

         10  life." End of quote.

         11                 I know the City Council encourages

         12  the contributions of the Indian community to

         13  American society. Suspending the parking rules for

         14  the final day of Deepavali would help thousands of

         15  families to attend temple, visit family and friends,

         16  and more importantly, with the help of the City

         17  Council, will help cement our place in the mosaic of

         18  New York City.

         19                 Thank you for your time and

         20  consideration of the Tamil Sangam.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         22  for joining us today in this hearing.

         23                 We have one last panel of individuals

         24  testifying on Intro. 420-A.

         25                 Rajiv Gowda, Giri Chhabra, Mukesh
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          2  Patel and Subhash Kapadia. And immediately after

          3  this panel, we will begin the oversight hearing

          4  concerning the MTA's communication's capabilities.

          5                 Gentlemen, thank you for joining us.

          6  We will begin with testimony from Mr. Gowda. And

          7  immediately after this panel, we will take a vote on

          8  Intro. 420-A.

          9                 Mr. Gowda, please use the mic.

         10                 MR. CHHABRA: Thank you very much,

         11  honorable Councilman, ladies and gentlemen, good

         12  morning.

         13                 I'm not going to say much about the

         14  religion and all that, although I'm a president of

         15  Hindu Center in Flushing, because my colleague have

         16  already made those statement (sic).

         17                 This is a Festival of Lights. Light

         18  represent knowledge. More important, this is a

         19  festival when we forget about our animosity, we

         20  clean our mind and soul in addition to physically

         21  cleaning our streets and our houses. This is a

         22  festival when we spread brotherhood and friendship.

         23                 This is a great country. This is a

         24  great City, and I think it should help us to

         25  celebrate what is human. We should celebrate the day
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          2  when the good forces won over the evil forces and

          3  our Ramayana came back home after destroying the

          4  evil forces. This is a very serious festival. It's

          5  not only recognized by Hindu religion. It is

          6  recognized by all the people in India, and I think

          7  this great City help us, we really appreciate it.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         10                 Could you please repeat your name for

         11  the record.

         12                 MR. CHHABRA: Yes. My name is Giri,

         13  G-i-r-i, Chhabra, C-h-h-a-b-r-a.  I'm the President

         14  of Hindu Center in Flushing on Kissena Boulevard.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         17  Mr. Chhabra.

         18                 MR. PATEL: Good morning, honorable

         19  Transportation Committee Chair, Mr. John Liu,

         20  Council members and all officers. My name is Mukesh

         21  Patel and I am representing BAPS, a religious

         22  cultural organization, located in Flushing, Queens.

         23                 I'm here on behalf of thousands of

         24  Hindu parents retiring within New York City area to

         25  kindly request suspension of alternate New York City
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          2  parking so that Hindu community can celebrate their

          3  most important Diwali festival, days with full of

          4  joy and without any parking-related stress on their

          5  mind.

          6                 I thank you all for giving me this

          7  opportunity to represent BAPS organization at this

          8  very important hearing. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         10                 Rajiv, ready?

         11                 MR. GOWDA: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I'm

         12  ready.

         13                 My name is Rajiv Gowda. Thank you

         14  very much, Mr. Chairman. Good morning to you, and

         15  good morning to all the Council members here in the

         16  Transportation Committee. I am Joint Secretary of

         17  Federation of Indian Association, which represents

         18  close to 84 Indian organizations in the tristate's

         19  area, and also I am the former First Vice President

         20  of Local 375, and the current Vice President of

         21  Community Education Council, Staten Island, District

         22  31, and Community Board 1 Transportation Committee

         23  Chairman, and somebody can go and read about that.

         24                 And Mr. Chairman, let me thank you,

         25  first of all. You and Gale Brewer, the sponsor of
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          2  this bill, and the Speaker of the Council, for

          3  bringing it up to this level. And the rest of the

          4  Council members. It's a great honor to sit here and

          5  voice my concern and the concern of close to a

          6  billion Hindus who celebrate this festival.

          7                 Mr. Chairman, Diwali is the single

          8  most important festival when it comes to Hindus in

          9  India. It is celebrated by more than one billion

         10  Hindus across the world. We not only have Hindus

         11  from India, but also we have Hindus from Trinidad,

         12  Guyana, Vietnam, South Africa, various part of the

         13  world. Hindus have been scattered all over. But they

         14  all celebrate. It's the Festival of Lights. I'm sure

         15  my colleagues kind of alluded to the fact of

         16  Festival of Lights, I'm not going to get into that.

         17                 Mr. Chairman, it is important. It is

         18  important because it's a celebration with just

         19  universal message that is good or evil, darkness,

         20  light or darkness, knowledge or ignorance. It kind

         21  of rings the bell across the globe that at this

         22  present time this is what we need. We have to

         23  eradicate this evil, the ignorance, the darkness, so

         24  it's a universal message.

         25                 So, it is so important to take this
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          2  universal message on this very important day by

          3  observing.

          4                 The celebration means as much to

          5  Hindus as Haunakka to Jews and Christmas to

          6  Christians, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 The Hindu Calendar is the Lunar

          8  Calendar, with most years consisting on 12 lunar

          9  years, and I've kind of given you what is the

         10  Gregorian month when we celebrate it here, when it

         11  happens in India. I'm not going to read all that.

         12                 What I would like to say, or

         13  emphasize, is Diwali is the celebration and the

         14  message is universal and imperative to all mankind,

         15  not just Hindus but all mankind. It's the time to

         16  forgive the wrongs done by others, and embrace each

         17  with love and work together for peace.

         18                 One of the great sayings of India

         19  said, and I quote, "The festival brings an air of

         20  freedom and friendliness everywhere. This festival

         21  is a great unifying force." I underscore this,

         22  Chairman. I underscore the word, unifying course."

         23   "Those with keen inner spiritual ears will clearly

         24  hear the voice of the sages," and quote/unquote, "O

         25  Children of God! Unite, and love all.
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          2  " That's the message. "The vibrations produced by

          3  the greetings of love, which fills the atmosphere,

          4  are powerful enough to bring about a change of heart

          5  in every man and women in the world. Alas! That

          6  heart has considerably hardened, and only a

          7  continuous celebration of Deepavali in our homes can

          8  rekindle in us the urgent need of turning away from

          9  the ruinous path of hatred."

         10                 We have to step away from the path of

         11  hatred to the path of joy, to the path of love, to

         12  the path of peace, to the path of unifying this

         13  entire world towards democracy that we're

         14  celebrating. That's the message of Diwali. It's

         15  nothing but that.

         16                 More than 300 Hindus live in tristate

         17  area.

         18                 And Mr. Chairman, it's about time for

         19  Hindu festival of universal message to join other

         20  great festivals in the City's restricted holiday

         21  schedule. We have been waiting for too long. Too

         22  long, Mr. Chairman. I think it's about time we join

         23  them in celebrating.

         24                 The recognition of Diwali by passing

         25  of this legislation is a great honor to the Hindus
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          2  of America. This will not only help us to go ahead

          3  on the festive day to the place of worship and visit

          4  our family and friends to spread the message of good

          5  over evil without worrying about the parking rules,

          6  but also bring awareness, most important, bring

          7  awareness of the festival in rest of the Americans,

          8  because rest of Americans have to know what does

          9  this festival mean? Why Hindus celebrate? What does

         10  it signify? That is more important, because we as a

         11  community, so diverse, and we have to bring entire

         12  Americans together, then only we'll succeed in this

         13  country. So important.

         14                 I underscore those points, that we

         15  are proud. We are proud to be part of this great

         16  City and look forward to celebrate many more Diwali

         17  with our fellow New Yorkers.

         18                 Mr. Chairman, you have been to many

         19  of our Diwali celebration, and many of your

         20  colleagues have been, and you have seen it, you

         21  appreciate it, and you applauded it, our

         22  contribution and everything. Now it's time to make

         23  this day a day of restricted street parking.

         24                 Thank you very much. And I thank Gale

         25  Brewer for sponsoring this most important bill, and
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          2  I thank you for taking it up on this day. And I want

          3  to thank you on behalf of all the Hindu Americans --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Your thanks is well

          5  taken.

          6                 MR. GOWDA: -- From the bottom of my

          7  heart.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Rajiv.

          9                 MR. GOWDA: Take this bill to the full

         10  Council and make it happen, and on October we should

         11  have this legislation in our hand and go to South

         12  Seaport and celebrate the --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're looking

         14  forward to it.

         15                 MR. GOWDA: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're looking

         17  forward to it.

         18                 We're going to have one-minute brief

         19  comment from Indu Jaswal --

         20                 MR. GOWDA: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- From the Indian

         22  American Culture Group of Long Island.

         23                 MS. JASWAL: Thank you, honorable

         24  Chairman. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. I want

         25  to thank the Council members, Councilwoman Gale
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          2  Brewer, for sponsoring this bill, and I'm requesting

          3  all Council Members support in endorsing the bill,

          4  to pass the alternate street side parking for the

          5  Diwali celebration.

          6                 Enough has been said from all our

          7  representatives from different communities, from

          8  India, so that you know you have had a chance of

          9  hearing how important it is to all of us, and how

         10  important it is for our community in the tristate

         11  area, and I want to thank you, Chairman, again, and

         12  I look forward to having a positive word from all of

         13  you.

         14                 Thanks again.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         16                 I want to thank all of the witnesses

         17  for joining us in today's hearing.

         18                 We have questions -- we have comments

         19  from Council Member Sanders.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Just a brief

         21  one, Mr. Chair.

         22                 Having had the pleasure of

         23  celebrating Diwali, thanks to Mr. Ghanda Shiv

         24  Noraine (phonetic), who brought me into Richmond

         25  Hill, I am in favor of this. It is certainly a
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          2  celebration, and I still have marks on my clothes

          3  from it, but short of that, it is a great holiday.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 At this time we are going to call a

          7  vote on Intro. 420-A. I recommend a yes vote on

          8  this.

          9                 Will the clerk please call the roll?

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Liu.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: As a proud

         14  sponsor of this intro, the vote is yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Absolutely,

         17  yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gonzalez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lanza.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of six in

         25  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no
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          2  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          3                 Council members, please sign the

          4  Committee report.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'd like to ask the

          6  clerk to keep the roll open. We have more Council

          7  Members who will be joining us in a little while,

          8  and they will wish to cast a vote on this as well.

          9                 I want to thank the community for

         10  joining us in today's hearing. We are now going to

         11  proceed straight into the oversight hearing

         12  concerning the MTA's communication's abilities, and

         13  I'd like to ask our first panel to join us. Beverly

         14  Dolinsky, the Executive Director of the MTA's

         15  Permanent Citizens' Advisory Committee, accompanied

         16  by her staff.

         17                 Once again, I want to welcome

         18  everyone to this morning's hearing of the City

         19  Council's Committee on Transportation. My name is

         20  John Liu, and I have the privilege of chairing this

         21  Committee, and I'm joined today by Council Members

         22  James Sanders from Queens, Council Member Andy Lanza

         23  from Staten Island, Council Member Joseph Addabbo

         24  from Queens, Council Member Larry Seabrook from the

         25  Bronx.
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          2                 We have other Council members who

          3  will be joining us. There are multiple hearings

          4  being conducted at the same time.

          5                 Our oversight hearing today is on the

          6  ability of the MTA to communicate particularly

          7  during emergencies. Our hearing is entitled

          8  "Communications During Subway Emergencies: Can

          9  Anyone Hear Us Now?"

         10                 The MTA has an enormous job. It

         11  transports over 2.4 billion people a year, equal to

         12  one-third of all mass transit riders and two-thirds

         13  of all rail riders in the United States. An agency

         14  that handles this volume of people will be expected

         15  to have a clear and concise plan on dealing with

         16  emergencies.

         17                 Last month the Permanent Citizens'

         18  Advisory Committee conducted a study on these

         19  emergency response plans and found inconsistencies

         20  across agencies, and a need to improve these plans,

         21  particularly at New York City Transit.

         22                 We are delighted to have Beverly

         23  Dolinsky and her staff from the MTA's Permanent

         24  Citizens' Advisory Committee joining us in today's

         25  hearing, and after they testify, we will hear from
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          2  the representatives of the Metropolitan

          3  Transportation Authority, including Christopher

          4  Boylan, the Deputy Executive Director, and then

          5  following his testimony will be Gene Russianoff from

          6  the NYPIRG Straphangers Campaign.

          7                 Good morning, Ms. Dolinsky. Thank you

          8  very much for taking the time out to join us in

          9  today's hearing.

         10                 MS. DOLINSKY: Good morning. Thank you

         11  for having us.

         12                 I'd like to introduce Ellen Shannon,

         13  our Transportation Planner, and Bill Henderson, our

         14  Associate Director. They're the principal authors of

         15  the report and they are going to testify. I'm just

         16  going to give the introduction.

         17                 I would like to say that New York

         18  City Transit, in terms of evacuation, has a great

         19  track record.

         20                 They lost no one on 9/11. They did a

         21  great job in the blackout in evacuating people. This

         22  report does not have to do with their ability to

         23  evacuate. It has to do strictly with communication.

         24                 We looked at all of the MTA operating

         25  agencies and we found that, for instance, Metro

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  North communication is a very integral part of their

          3  emergency plans. At Long Island railroad it's

          4  somewhat less important, but there is something

          5  about communication, and at New York City Transit we

          6  found very little that had to do with communicating

          7  with customers.

          8                 We feel communication is very

          9  important to customers, that it's very anxiety

         10  producing if you're in a stalled train or if you're

         11  waiting on a platform and you have no information,

         12  that riders can tolerate a great deal if they have

         13  information, and that's what this is all about.

         14                 So, Ellyn and Bill will talk to you.

         15                 MR. HENDERSON: Good morning. As

         16  Beverly mentioned, I'm Bill Henderson, the Associate

         17  Director of the Permanent Citizens' Advisory

         18  Committee to the MTA.

         19                 PCAC is an umbrella organization for

         20  three commuters councils, the Long Island Railroad

         21  Commuters Council, the Metro North Railroad

         22  Commuters Council and New York City Transit Riders

         23  Council.

         24                 Councils were legislatively mandated

         25  in 1981 to represent the interest of the riders.
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          2                 In August we released the report,

          3  Ladies And Gentlemen, This Is Not A Drill: A Study

          4  of Internal and External Communication Policies at

          5  the MTA, Long Island Railroad, Metro North Railroad

          6  and New York City Transit.

          7                 We have copies of this report

          8  available today, and it can also be found on our

          9  website www.PCAC.org.

         10                 PCAC found that while NYC Transit's

         11  operational performance on September 11th, 2001, and

         12  during the 2003 blackout was outstanding.

         13                 The agency's emergency communication

         14  performance is often extremely weak. This poor

         15  performance reflects the lack of preparation for

         16  effective communication and emergencies.

         17                 While the MTA has oversight of NYC

         18  Transit, it has given its operating agencies wide

         19  latitude and emergency response planning.

         20                 The MTA has therefore not required

         21  NYC Transit to make communication a top priority and

         22  an integral component of its safety and security

         23  program.

         24                 The low priority given to

         25  communication threatens NYC Transit's ability to
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          2  respond effectively to emergencies.

          3                 The NYC Transit emergency response

          4  plan or ERP makes no provision for an emergency

          5  management task force with defined roles and

          6  responsibilities. The NYC Transit stated that during

          7  emergency they convene a group of "senior staff

          8  members." However, we found no reference to this in

          9  agency policy, nor is it clear what specific roles

         10  this group will play.

         11                 A clearly defined task force would

         12  exhibit -- would establish explicit chains of

         13  command, operating procedures, assignments of

         14  responsibilities to specific positions.

         15                 The task force would also perform the

         16  critical function of obtaining and disseminating

         17  vital information both internally and externally,

         18  the agency.

         19                 The ERP is also vague in its

         20  treatment of specific roles and responsibilities in

         21  relation to communication.

         22                 In emergency situations it calls only

         23  for more intensive application of standard operating

         24  procedure.

         25                 Where instantaneous communication
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          2  decisions are required, it would be difficult to

          3  consult the ERP and determine who is in charge,

          4  which persons are responsible for specific tasks,

          5  and what actions depend on the performance of other

          6  actions?

          7                 There is likewise little guidance

          8  provided to staff responsible for emergency

          9  communications with customers.

         10                 Instead of explicit emergency

         11  communication policies in the ERP, front line staff

         12  are instructed to contact the control center in an

         13  emergency.

         14                 The ERP provides no guidance, what

         15  should happen in the event of a communication

         16  technology failure.

         17                 Nowhere in the ERP is there a

         18  definitive set of customer communication procedures

         19  for emergencies.

         20                 Instead, front line staff members

         21  must synthesize the directions that they have been

         22  provided in training sessions, the instructions from

         23  periodic internal policy bulletins and memos, and

         24  the immediate orders that they receive from

         25  supervisors and adapt their communication with
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          2  customers to the specific situation.

          3                 Once the emergency is over, NYC

          4  Transit conducts an emergency response performance

          5  evaluation that focuses on operational issues.

          6                 The ERP does not require a

          7  performance evaluation assessing the quality of

          8  agency communication and such an evaluation is

          9  typically not conducted.

         10                 Today detailed policies and

         11  procedures governing communication and emergencies

         12  are critical. But we found the communication at all

         13  levels is not an integral part of NYC transit

         14  operations and clearly does not rank as a top agency

         15  priority.

         16                 This was illustrated gain with 131

         17  subway stations still lacking public address

         18  systems. In fact, many of these stations were

         19  scheduled to receive public address equipment with

         20  the installation of the public address customer

         21  information system, PACIS, in all B division

         22  stations.

         23                 Unfortunately, this project was

         24  removed from MTA's proposed 2005 through 2009

         25  capital program.
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          2                 NYC Transit sited fiscal constraints

          3  and a desire to coordinate with the installation of

          4  automatic training, supervision, technology, as

          5  reasons for this action. To be clear, the PACIS does

          6  not require automatic training, supervision and

          7  technology in order to be fully functional.

          8                 The removal of the PACIS from the

          9  capital program does not encourage optimism about

         10  the future of communication on the subway system.

         11                 The PCAC calls upon NYC Transit to

         12  restore the PACIS to 2005 to 2009 capital program,

         13  to establish an emergency management task force with

         14  clearly defined roles and responsibilities, to

         15  incorporate detailed materials on emergency

         16  communication into the agency's emergency response

         17  plan, and to make these materials available for all

         18  employees.

         19                 Policies provided to staff should be

         20  concise and provide a clear understanding of roles

         21  and responsibilities. Following an incident, the

         22  performance evaluation should include an assessment

         23  of the quality of internal and external

         24  communication.

         25                 Communication is vital to the rider's

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  satisfaction, safety and security. Its importance

          3  must be recognized in NYC Transit plans, policies

          4  and training activities.

          5                 Thank you, and we'll take questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Henderson. I'd like to ask Council Member Koppell if

          8  he'd like to enter a vote into the record for Intro.

          9  420-A.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman. I vote aye.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         13                 Mr. Henderson, thank you very much

         14  for your thoughtful testimony.

         15                 Most of your testimony focuses on I

         16  guess internal communications, being part of the

         17  ERP, the Emergency Response Plan.

         18                 MR. HENDERSON: Well, it includes both

         19  internal and external communications, communications

         20  with the customer.

         21                 MS. SHANNON: Front-line staff --

         22                 MR. HENDERSON: Front-line staff.

         23                 MS. SHANNON:-- Is a real concern on

         24  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Could you please
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          2  speak into the mic.

          3                 MS. SHANNON: I'm sorry.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And identify

          5  yourself, first.

          6                 MS. SHANNON: Ellyn Shannon,

          7  Transportation Planner, PCAC.

          8                 It focuses also on front-line staff

          9  and what communication they're getting to be able to

         10  react and interact with passengers in an emergency,

         11  and that is not reflective in the ERP.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That is not

         13  reflected in the ERP?

         14                 MS. SHANNON: No.

         15                 What is for them is to call the

         16  control center. But what they've been trained to do

         17  is not included and how they are to interact with

         18  passengers.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         20  could you ask the witness to speak right into the

         21  microphone a little bit louder? I can't hear her.

         22                 MS. SHANNON: Yes. That it's not

         23  included in the ERP. Details of what they've been

         24  trained in, how they will respond, are not in the

         25  ERP.
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          2                 What is in the ERP is for them to

          3  control the control center. And, so, it's possible

          4  that their information is coming through trainings.

          5  That can change and it wouldn't be reflected, you

          6  wouldn't necessarily know it. It's not in policy.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, there's clearly

          8  a deficiency in the internal communication within

          9  the ERP, which goes all the way to the front-line

         10  employees. That's still considered internal

         11  communications.

         12                 And then once it reaches the front

         13  line employees who are dealing with the public,

         14  there is then also a deficiency in the ability to

         15  communicate, simply because that front line employed

         16  has little training or instruction on what exactly

         17  to do?

         18                 MR. HENDERSON: I think that's

         19  accurate.

         20                 I'm sure if you're a rider in the

         21  system you've been in situations where the agent or

         22  a platform conductor is saying, well, I just don't

         23  know anything. And that's not the station agent's

         24  fault or the conductors or the person who is on the

         25  front line's fault. That's a reflection of the fact
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          2  that the information is not reaching that person,

          3  and the person hasn't been trained in what to do

          4  where the information isn't there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So there clearly

          6  needs to be improvements in the ERP, especially as

          7  it relates to internal communications, all the way

          8  up to the front-line employee. And then in addition,

          9  the communications to the public by the front line

         10  employee needs to be beefed up as well.

         11                 MS. DOLINSKY: Well, if the training

         12  is beefed up and the instructions are beefed up,

         13  then the front-line employee will know exactly what

         14  they're supposed to do. So, I mean, that was what we

         15  found at fault here. In MetroNorth emergency

         16  response, and there's a whole segment on

         17  communication, and it tells who is responsible for

         18  everything and what their responsibilities are, and

         19  there was no section on communication in Transit's.

         20                 MS. SHANNON: For example, they had

         21  their job descriptions, a job description on how you

         22  perform your job in an emergency. With an emergency

         23  management task force, the communication component

         24  of that is integral. Gathering information and

         25  disseminating information it gets out to the public,
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          2  that's also an integral part of the plan, and that's

          3  what we didn't find at New York City Transit.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's great. Now,

          5  to follow up on Ms. Dolinsky's point, of course it's

          6  imperative to get the instructions and the training

          7  to the front-line employee, but part of Mr.

          8  Henderson's, and I suppose your collective

          9  testimony, is that even if the front-line employee

         10  had very clear instructions on what to tell the

         11  passengers, in many cases that front-line employee

         12  would not be able to communicate with the

         13  passengers, with the public in those stations.

         14                 MR. HENDERSON: There are certainly

         15  technological issues having to do with your PA

         16  system and both their existence and the quality of

         17  the systems. Those are getting better.

         18                 The replacement of cars has improved

         19  the quality of announcements on the 142 series

         20  cards, quite a bit over the equipment that used to

         21  be there.

         22                 But the employees have to know what

         23  to say, what to get out, or, you know, the

         24  technology becomes an issue.

         25                 MS. SHANNON: Right now what happens
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          2  is front-line staff in the stations hear audibly.

          3  What the public address, customer information system

          4  does, it provides text messaging for station

          5  personnel.  To need to listen audibly and then give

          6  that information, remembering it and remembering it

          7  correctly and pass it on to passengers is not an

          8  easy task.

          9                 This PACIS system is an integral part

         10  in getting them to have correct information that

         11  they can refer back to and get updated on regularly

         12  for communicating back to the passengers correct

         13  information.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, compared to --

         15  even within the MTA, if you do a comparison of the

         16  sub agencies within the MTA, the Metro North and

         17  Long Island Railroad, they actually address

         18  communications in the ERP. Am I correct --

         19                 MS. SHANNON: That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- In hearing that,

         21  in thinking that you said in New York City Transit

         22  there's not even a section on communications?

         23                 MS. DOLINSKY: There is one page and

         24  it's very brief, and it relies heavily on calling

         25  the control center for how to communicate.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is it posible that

          3  the, that New York City Transit's ERP doesn't

          4  necessarily break out the communications aspect into

          5  a separate section, but maybe it's all throughout

          6  the rest of the ERP?

          7                 MS. DOLINSKY: It's not within

          8  relation to those that communicate with the public.

          9  And, so, there are internally, again, operationally

         10  there is, but when you look at who are the people

         11  that are conveying the information to the public and

         12  what's being said, that's not explicit. That's all.

         13  It's very general and broad.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It leads one to

         15  conclude that unlike MetroNorth and Long Island

         16  Railroad, New York City Transit doesn't necessarily

         17  think that communications is an important part of an

         18  emergency response plan.

         19                 What about the comparison between the

         20  agencies in terms of the actual ability to

         21  communicate to the public?

         22                 For example, the Metro North

         23  stations, do they have -- Metro North and the Long

         24  Island Railroad stations, do they generally all have

         25  PA systems, or are they also lacking PA systems?
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          2                 MS. DOLINSKY: Some of them are

          3  lacking PA systems.

          4                 Metro North has a lot of electronic

          5  advances where they have people available in their

          6  stations, they have computers that show the

          7  territory and show whether trains are running or

          8  trains are not running. They have an ability to

          9  contact their people which is more advanced.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Contact people

         11  internally, or communicate to the public at large?

         12                 MS. DOLINSKY: Well, internally who

         13  then communicate to the public at large.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But are the PA

         15  systems in place for them to communicate to the

         16  public at large?

         17                 For example, the 131 subway stations

         18  that don't have any PA system, and that doesn't even

         19  take into account the PA systems at other subway

         20  stations that transmit garbled messages, how many --

         21  do we have an idea of how many stations in the Long

         22  Island Railroad and the Metro North systems also

         23  lack PA systems?

         24                 MS. DOLINSKY: I don't have it with

         25  me. It's something that we can find out.
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          2                 There is a small percentage that

          3  don't have systems.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Because in the

          5  subway system, the report is saying that roughly 30

          6  percent of the subway stations do not have PA

          7  systems; is that percentage comparable in Metro

          8  North and Long Island Railroad, or would it be a

          9  much, much smaller percentage?

         10                 MS. DOLINSKY: I believe it would be a

         11  smaller percentage.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         13                 I'm going to turn the questioning

         14  over to Council Member Sanders, and then Koppell.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         16  Chairman Liu. I think that this is a great hearing

         17  and in light of all of the terrible incidences that

         18  have happened to our country, it is even more

         19  important.

         20                 I represent Southeast Queens. I

         21  represent the 31st District in Southeast Queens, and

         22  I ride the train often. As a matter of fact, I'm

         23  going to ride this train home. I am still brewing or

         24  stewing over City Ride, but I'll leave that alone

         25  for the moment.
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          2                 You're telling me that there are 137

          3  stations -- I stand corrected. The figure is

          4  different.

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: A hundred

          6  thirty-one.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I stand

          8  corrected. A hundred and thirty-one stations where

          9  we don't have the ability, the MTA does not have the

         10  ability to communicate effectively with all of its

         11  popul -- all of the people there in an emergency; is

         12  this true?

         13                 MS. DOLINSKY: Yes, it is true.

         14                 If you ask them, they would tell you

         15  that most of those stations are outlying stations

         16  where there aren't that many riders, and so the high

         17  priority is to have the technology in stations that

         18  are more heavily used.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Well, I

         20  appreciate their view on a very Manhattancentric

         21  view of the world. I just happen to represent those

         22  outlying people, and we're kind of in a flood plane,

         23  too. It would be nice to know if there's a problem

         24  what's going on.

         25                 The Committee on Technology in
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          2  Government, of course, has called for the use of --

          3  for the MTA to use optical cables to make sure that

          4  all of its communication is done by optical cables,

          5  are you familiar, and do you guys have a position on

          6  this?

          7                 MR. HENDERSON: We're not intimately

          8  familiar, but we understand that is basically the

          9  leading edge of technology and communication.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Okay, my last

         11  point is an allied point. There is a lot of

         12  controversy on not just MTA communicating with

         13  itself but passengers being able to communicate.

         14                 There is technology out there that

         15  would enable passengers in advent of emergency, to

         16  be able to communicate with their loved ones and

         17  vice-versa. Have you guys given thought to that?

         18  Where do you stand on that controversy?

         19                 MR. DOLINSKY: On the use of cell

         20  phones?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes.

         22                 MR. DOLINSKY: We have not taken a

         23  position on it yet. Our members have been mixed.

         24                 On the one hand, they feel that it

         25  would be good for people to be able to contact their
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          2  loved ones. On the other hand, they might be

          3  concerned that it might be a terrible nuisance, so

          4  they have not taken a position.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I see.

          6                 Part of the controversy, besides the

          7  noise pollution, that it perhaps promises, is that

          8  there is a concern that terrorists can use the

          9  technology to time different things. There are

         10  certain concerns about that also.

         11                 MR. DOLINSKY: Well, they used cell

         12  phones in Madrid. However, you don't necessarily

         13  have to use a cell phone, you can use another form

         14  of the timer.

         15                 MR. HENDERSON: I think the question

         16  is whether the cell phone is being used as a timer,

         17  or whether it's been used as a radio receiver. In

         18  the Madrid case, they were being used simply as a

         19  timer, like any other timer went by in a hardware

         20  store.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I'm sure in

         22  the days to come, we will all have to grapple with

         23  this controversy to come out with what's good for

         24  New Yorkers. I urge you to give thought to it, since

         25  there is a call from people on the ground.
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          2                 I'm getting more of a call that

          3  people want to communicate, and that seems to be

          4  pushing the conversation.

          5                 So, since I'm anxious, Mr. Chair, to

          6  hear our friends in the MTA, I'm going to stop my

          7  questioning there and yield to you and Council

          8  Member Koppell.

          9                 Thank you, sir.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're all anxious.

         11  They're very popular.

         12                 We've been joined by Council Members

         13  Martinez and Moskowitz. I'd like to offer an

         14  opportunity to cast a vote on Intro. 420-A.

         15                 Will the clerk please call the roll.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Proposed Introduction

         17  420-A. Council Member Moskowitz.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote currently

         20  stands at eight in the affirmative, zero in the

         21  negative and no abstentions.

         22                 Council Member Martinez.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         25  nine.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          3                 Questions from Council Member

          4  Koppell.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Going to the

          6  question that's already been pursued by my

          7  colleagues, there are 131 stations where there is no

          8  public address system; is that correct?

          9                 MS. DOLINSKY: Yes.

         10                 MR. HENDERSON: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And in those

         12  stations, is there a token booth clerk in each of

         13  those stations?

         14                 MS. DOLINSKY: Every station has a

         15  24-hour token booth clerk, except for the five on

         16  the Dire Avenue Line.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And is the

         18  token booth clerk connected by communication devices

         19  with some central source?

         20                 MS. DOLINSKY: Yes. Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So they can

         22  communicate with the token booth clerk, but not with

         23  the passengers on the platform; is that correct?

         24                 MS. DOLINSKY: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And how much
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          2  would it cost to put in a speaker system in the

          3  station where the token booth clerk could make an

          4  announcement to the waiting passengers? Have you any

          5  idea how much that would cost?

          6                 MS. DOLINSKY: No.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, has

          8  anybody suggested that pending the installation of a

          9  general public address system, which I certainly

         10  support doing and don't accept their excuse

         11  whatsoever, but it seems to me it would be a matter

         12  of a few dollars, literally a few, maybe even a few

         13  hundred dollars to have a speaker system installed

         14  in each station so at least the token booth clerk

         15  getting a message from the central station that

         16  there was some disruption could make an announcement

         17  to passengers? Wouldn't that make sense?

         18                 MS. DOLINSKY: It would. But I doubt

         19  it would cost only a few hundred dollars.

         20                 MR. HENDERSON: I certainly heard the

         21  point made.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, it

         23  certainly wouldn't cost more than a few thousand

         24  dollars, to put in some microphones and a speaker

         25  system in the station. I mean, you can get such a
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          2  system to set up in a hall for a meeting, you know,

          3  for rental of the equipment for a few dollars. So,

          4  I'm sure you would have to be a little bit more

          5  elaborate in the station, but it's beyond my

          6  comprehension that the Transit Authority doesn't

          7  have a way of making an announcement to all the

          8  passengers on the platform given the problems with

          9  the system and the potential for a system

         10  disruption. It just staggers my imagination.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         12  Member Koppell.

         13                 And questions from Council Member

         14  Brewer.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly,

         16  to follow-up on Council Member Sanders.

         17                 You may not have had these hearings,

         18  but have you asked about broadband connectivity

         19  throughout the station, and maybe what some of the

         20  dark fiber is or is not going to be used for? Is

         21  that something that has come up? Or it's not

         22  necessarily part of your discussions?

         23                 MS. DOLINSKY: It was not part of our

         24  discussions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.
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          2                 So, we will ask that for the next

          3  panel.

          4                 The other question is: Of the 131,

          5  are some of those stations above ground? Just out of

          6  curiosity, if they're in communities outside of

          7  Manhattan, I assume some of them are?

          8                 MR. HENDERSON: Many of them are.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         10                 MR. HENDERSON: Are either open cut or

         11  elevated stations.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, it would

         13  be very easy not only to do the low-tech suggestion

         14  of Council Member Koppell, but also to put an

         15  antenna, and you could do a very high tech, very

         16  inexpensive communication system throughout the

         17  system if there isn't a below ground. So, there are

         18  certainly many opportunities for communication.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         21                 We're going to call our esteemed

         22  representatives from the MTA up shortly. I just have

         23  a few follow-up questions for you, which would be

         24  that, had you previously alerted the MTA to the need

         25  for communications, or the fact that you are looking
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          2  at their communication systems and capabilities?

          3                 MS. DOLINSKY: Over the years we've

          4  done many reports on communication and it's been a

          5  constant problem. It's a constant problem when there

          6  are general orders. As you know, there is a lot of

          7  system construction over the weekend. We looked at

          8  those advisories, and we found that they didn't get

          9  such good marks. They had improved a lot and we feel

         10  that a lot has to do with our recommendations for

         11  those general orders. But communication is a

         12  constant problem. It's not a new problem.

         13                 It's just that with major emergencies

         14  around the world, our members decided to focus on it

         15  now.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, Mr.

         17  Henderson's testimony states that the communications

         18  at all levels is an integral part of New York City

         19  Transit operations, and clearly does not rank as a

         20  top agency priority.

         21                 I know the Committee has been dealing

         22  with this issue for many years, would you care to

         23  venture a guess as to why it continues not to be a

         24  priority?

         25                 MS. DOLINSKY: Well, I don't know if
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          2  it's not a priority but somebody isn't doing

          3  something right because it always -- I mean, ask all

          4  of your constituents who are riders, and I'm sure

          5  you'll get lots of complaints about communication.

          6  It just seems to be a never-ending problem that the

          7  agency can't seem to get its hands around.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's a very good

          9  point. And in fact, we'll hear from Straphangers

         10  Campaign later, which earlier this year did another

         11  study that demonstrated that one out of four subway

         12  announcements continue to be unintelligible, and yet

         13  the MTA is intent on having computers drive some of

         14  our subways.

         15                 I want to thank you very much. Oh,

         16  one last question. Your assessment of Transit's

         17  operational performance on September 11th of 2001,

         18  and during the blackout of August 2003, their

         19  performance was outstanding.

         20                 MS. DOLINSKY: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What is the basis

         22  that you make that assessment?

         23                 MS. DOLINSKY: Because no one was

         24  hurt. They were able to evacuate and no one was

         25  hurt, and I think that that is really, when you
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          2  consider how many people use the system every day, I

          3  think that's fairly amazing.

          4                 MS. SHANNON: And the evacuation took

          5  place, the number of passengers, I'm not sure what

          6  it was, but it was an enormous amount of passengers

          7  under a very short period of time. It was very

          8  impressive.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, to be fair to

         10  the New York City Transit, I think that August of

         11  2003, that blackout was certainly an emergency

         12  situation that happened during rushhour. And no one

         13  was hurt, or at least there were no reports of

         14  anyone being hurt, and that the system was evacuated

         15  quickly.

         16                 Did you take a look into exactly what

         17  happened there, or basically -- I mean, that was not

         18  really a focus of this study?

         19                 MR. HENDERSON: Yes, it wasn't a focus

         20  on this study, but we were there, and I was in the

         21  86th Street Station in Brooklyn when it happened,

         22  and, you know, it was well done. There were a few

         23  people who the system required awhile to get out of

         24  there, out of the tunnels, but, you know, everybody

         25  got out, no one was injured, and, you know, that's
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          2  impressive performance.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It may have been

          4  true that at the end of the day no one was seriously

          5  hurt, or certainly no reports of anyone being hurt

          6  were put out. But there certainly was comment about

          7  confusion during the blackout, confusion that

          8  perhaps could have been avoided if there had been

          9  public address systems throughout the system.

         10                 MS. DOLINSKY: Well, the public

         11  address systems may not have worked in the blackout,

         12  and that's one of the things that we talk about in

         13  this report, is that front line employees have to

         14  know how to communicate if they cannot reach the

         15  command center.

         16                 MR. HENDERSON: Yes, there have to be

         17  situations where communication technology fails, and

         18  the front-line employee is left out on its own and

         19  has to deal without the use of a PA system, for

         20  instance.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Thank you

         22  very much for joining us today.

         23                 I'd like to invite our

         24  representatives from the Metropolitan Transportation

         25  Authority.
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          2                 Christopher Boylan, Deputy Executive

          3  Director, Corporate Affairs and Communications; and

          4  Kevin O'Connell, Chief Transportation Officer,

          5  Department of Subways.

          6                 After this MTA panel, we will hear

          7  from Gene Russianoff, Staff Attorney at NYPIRG

          8  Straphangers Campaign, and then after the

          9  Straphangers Campaign we will hear from

         10  representatives of TWU, Transport Workers Union,

         11  Local 100.

         12                 Good morning. Thanks very much for

         13  joining us today.

         14                 MR. BOYLAN: Good morning, Mr.

         15  Chairman, members of the Committee. Thanks for

         16  having us here. Let me introduce myself and my

         17  colleague here. My name is Christopher Boylan. I'm

         18  Deputy Executive Director for Corporate and

         19  Community Affairs at the MTA. And with me is Kevin

         20  O'Connell, who is the Chief Transportation Officer

         21  for New York City Transit's Department of Subways.

         22                 We all obviously know why we're here

         23  today, to address some of the issues that were

         24  raised in the PCAC report, Ladies And Gentlemen,

         25  This Is Not A Drill.
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          2                 I'd like to give you a brief overview

          3  of our initial reaction to the document, highlight

          4  some of the strides we've made actually, in terms of

          5  improving communication for our customers and our

          6  employees, and then Mr. O'Connell and I will make

          7  ourselves available for whatever questions you may

          8  have.

          9                 Let me begin by saying that the PCAC

         10  report is one in which we fully participated and

         11  contributed. In fact, PCAC acknowledges in its

         12  report the 20 or so people from the MTA that we made

         13  available for in-depth interviews.

         14                 As with any report that contain

         15  subjective observations and conclusions, one would

         16  imagine that there are some things that we would

         17  have honest disagreements on. Some things we think

         18  have more to do with style and approach rather than

         19  perhaps substance, and there are some instances

         20  where we expressed concern about some of the

         21  research elements in terms of their currency.

         22                 With that said, we do embrace the

         23  constructive elements in the report, and we're

         24  looking at ways to address some of the

         25  recommendations that were in the report. In fact,
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          2  we've already spoken with PACAC staff with an eye

          3  toward refining and improving some of the ways we

          4  communicate going forward.

          5                 Before we address some of those

          6  specific issues in your Q and A's, let me suggest

          7  that communicating effectively is a challenge for

          8  any service-related company, and certainly when you

          9  have 8 million customers and 65,000 employees, it's

         10  even more so. And we don't claim to be perfect, and

         11  I've heard that today, we are certainly not perfect

         12  all the time, but we have made great strides over

         13  the past few years, and we've committed ourselves to

         14  doing a better job tomorrow and the day after and

         15  the day after and it will continue to get better.

         16                 Let me call to mind what some folks

         17  mentioned today, which were two examples of how we

         18  did communicate very well, and evacuated our

         19  personnel on both 9/11 and on the blackout day in

         20  August of 2003. That happened from a combination of

         21  things. Good staff training, preparedness, because

         22  we do extensive amounts of drills throughout the

         23  year, we did follow our emergency operating

         24  procedures, and very importantly, we did have good

         25  communication with both our employees, and with our
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          2  customers.

          3                 Now, that allowed both efforts to be

          4  conducted calmly, efficiently, and perhaps most

          5  importantly, without serious injury to any of our

          6  customers. And when you're talking about probably

          7  several hundred thousand people evacuated from Lower

          8  Manhattan on 9/11 and 400,000 people evacuated from

          9  trains that were in tunnels and on elevated

         10  structures throughout the system, that was no small

         11  feat.

         12                 And there was a tremendous amount of

         13  communication that was going on back and forth. We

         14  talked about stations before. There are no public

         15  address announcement systems within the tunnels in

         16  our system, and yet our employees are trained to be

         17  able to deal with those situations and communicate

         18  with the customers, and it was that communication

         19  with our central command center, and Mr. O'Connell

         20  can tell you how that happens, and then to our

         21  customers that provided for that safe evacuation.

         22                 Now, in terms of the emergency plans,

         23  and Councilman, you mentioned it yourself, there may

         24  not be communication elements of certain plans in

         25  the MTA family that are perhaps under a particular
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          2  heading, but as you mentioned, there are

          3  communication elements that are integral to all of

          4  those plans.

          5                 Some of them, in MetroNorth's case,

          6  they actually put it under a headline

          7  communications, but throughout New York City

          8  Transits and Long Island Railroads, it's inherent.

          9                 In fact, in some of the elements of

         10  the plan, once they are initiated, there is a

         11  communications or public affairs element that's

         12  automatically begun and that's a whole set of

         13  internal communications that determines what the

         14  message is, and messages change and they're analyzed

         15  and so forth. There is no one set message that will

         16  be given out, it's situational.

         17                 Let me shift gears for a moment and

         18  tell you a couple of things that we've also done to

         19  improve communications, audible communications

         20  within the system over the last couple of years.

         21  Many of you are familiar with our R 142 and R 142-A

         22  high-tech subway cars that have come on line in the

         23  last few years. We now have 1,630 of them on the

         24  system, and they've been very successful using

         25  pre-recorded station and delay announcements, and
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          2  those get kudos from our customers for clarity and

          3  consistency.

          4                 The same is true for the R 143s, and

          5  we have 212 of those in the system right now. And

          6  our plan is to ultimately replace all our subway

          7  cars and they will all have that same clarity and

          8  consistency.

          9                 Long Island Railroad and MetroNorth

         10  added nearly 1,000 new M 7 rail cars in the last two

         11  or three years. They provide similarly clear

         12  announcements. And by the way, the thing I forgot to

         13  mention is there is also visual announcements in

         14  those cars at both ends, which really makes a much

         15  more pleasant riding experience.

         16                 More subway and rail cars are on the

         17  way as a result of our most recently-approved 2000

         18  and 2009 capital plan, about 1,000 subway cars and

         19  another 200 M 7 cars.

         20                 Now, our colleagues from PCAC

         21  mentioned the public address communications -- I'm

         22  sorry, customer information system, which will

         23  integrate visual and audio station announcements

         24  through the subway system, and allow for real time

         25  monitoring of train arrivals, and will certainly
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          2  translate into better communication and emergency.

          3                 At the end of this year we will have

          4  24 B division stations with the digitally fed public

          5  address systems and led information screens on line.

          6                 By the end of next year, 156 A

          7  division stations will be operational. The remainder

          8  of the system will roll out as quickly as possible

          9  in our current and subsequent capital programs as we

         10  upgrade our fiberoptic system. So, we are working on

         11  making many of the improvements that you were just

         12  talking about in terms of stations that don't have

         13  coverage and stations that have inadequate coverage.

         14                 And one thing I ask you to keep in

         15  mind is, we're basically taking a 21st Century

         16  technology and superimposing it on an infrastructure

         17  that was designed in the 19th century. This is time

         18  consuming and expensive but the end product will be

         19  worth the results in both cost and time.

         20                 Which leads me to communication

         21  technologies we've already employed, some of which

         22  the PCAC referred to in the report. We continue to

         23  take major advantage of the power of Internet to

         24  communicate both regular service disruptions and

         25  emergency situations, and that's something you won't
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          2  find in the majority of transit websites around the

          3  nation.

          4                 On 9/11 we were prepared with one of

          5  the most robust Internet websites in the nation, and

          6  that served us well.

          7                 In fact, we went from pre-9/11 levels

          8  of about 400,000 hits a day to almost 10 million by

          9  the end of the week. And the reason why that was the

         10  case was we had a website that was current and

         11  provided clear information.

         12                 In fact, we were providing it at the

         13  outset maybe every 15 minutes to 30 minutes to let

         14  our customers know one more station is open, two

         15  more stations were open and so forth. So, it worked

         16  very well for us.

         17                 And it's popularity continues to

         18  grow. In fact, we've seen a 26 percent uptick in

         19  2005 over 2004 in terms of customers coming to our

         20  website for the information, service-related

         21  information.

         22                 We continue to build on that success.

         23  And most recently, and this is also at the

         24  suggestion of the Straphangers Campaign, and I know

         25  they're going to be speaking soon, we've further
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          2  leveraged emerging technologies by providing our

          3  customers with weekly e-mail notices about planned

          4  service diversions, so that they can plan their

          5  trips accordingly.

          6                 Nearly 30,000 of our customers have

          7  availed themselves of this free prescription

          8  services, and as we strive to make it real time, we

          9  feel that that will even become a more important

         10  element so that you could be standing on a street

         11  corner or a platform and you'll find out real time

         12  if there's a particular service that is being

         13  affected. And then you can make your decision

         14  above-ground whether to go in or not.

         15                 Real time service information is also

         16  made available this year on our website through the

         17  Trips 1 2 3 system, and that is a system that was

         18  constructed over the past two years with the help of

         19  the federal DOT grant, and that was done in

         20  collaboration with all the regional transit

         21  providers in the region across the river and here in

         22  New York, and identifies not only current transit

         23  and traffic conditions, but helps with customer trip

         24  planning.

         25                 For our customers without Internet
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          2  access, we do have our customer service hot lines.

          3  Those are available 24 hours a day. We have

          4  discussed links with the 3-1-1 system, and in fact

          5  those exist right now so if you call 3-1-1 they will

          6  transfer you to our systems, and that's working

          7  quite well.

          8                 But we do more than just communicate

          9  electronically or telephonically. As you have seen,

         10  over the past three years we have undertaken written

         11  campaigns on buses, subways and trains to alert the

         12  public to both service and emergency preparedness

         13  issues.

         14                 Weekly service notices are posted in

         15  the stations, but also you see emergency

         16  preparedness campaigns, our See Something Say

         17  Something Campaign which has actually been

         18  internationally acclaimed now. In fact, last week I

         19  got letters from the City of Amsterdam, we provide

         20  that even though it's copyrighted, we provide them

         21  with a free license for that, and also Australia is

         22  now using it. So, we've gone worldwide and it's a

         23  very effective campaign.

         24                 But we have also, over the last year,

         25  done extensive amounts of work to inform our
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          2  customers about evacuation in case of an emergency.

          3  And we've made car cards, brochures, web-based

          4  videos, CDs and in fact, in today's paper you will

          5  see one of the brochures that we are now handing out

          6  in the subway system on how to evacuate a subway

          7  train.

          8                 We've also made those available to

          9  the NYPD for each of their precincts to use in

         10  community meetings.

         11                 Let me close by sharing with you the

         12  fact that we've also communicated with our 65,000

         13  employees about safety and security issues. They are

         14  the front line in many instances. And each has

         15  received, they received various levels of training,

         16  based on what their occupational specialty is. Each

         17  of them has received, each of the 65,000 employees

         18  has received a security awareness booklet last year,

         19  and additional supplementary booklets this year,

         20  depending on whether you're a rail operator or a bus

         21  operator and they get regular communication from

         22  their chain of command and Mr. O'Connell can tell

         23  you about that.

         24                 So, while there's always room for

         25  improvement, Mr. Chairman and members of the
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          2  Committee, we're confident we're moving in the right

          3  direction, and we'd be happy to take your questions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          5                 In your statement you spoke about a

          6  plan to eventually get PA systems up and running in

          7  those stations that still lack such systems. And

          8  integrating the installation of these PA systems,

          9  along with the new fiberoptic communication systems

         10  that the Transit Authority is expecting to put

         11  through systemwide.

         12                 So, that's a plan that's been in

         13  place for how many years now would you say?

         14                 MR. BOYLAN: PACIS, how long have we

         15  been?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL: Probably the last

         17  seven years.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At least seven

         19  years, is that what you said?

         20                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's a good guess.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         22                 And that system is projected to be

         23  completed systemwide by the year, what is it like

         24  2020, something like that?

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: No, it's before that. But
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          2  it will be in probably the next program.

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL: Yes, I think in this

          4  next capital program it should be all complete.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the PCAC just

          6  testified that it had been dropped from the

          7  2005-2009 capital program. The PA systems. Is that

          8  wrong or inaccurate?

          9                 MR. BOYLAN: The B division will be

         10  completed in this capital plan.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: When you say the

         12  next capital program, you mean 2010 to 2014.

         13                 MR. BOYLAN: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, assuming that

         15  that capital program is funded in full and is

         16  actually completed in its entirety, we would expect

         17  to see the PA systems in place in 2014.

         18                 MR. BOYLAN: That's the complete

         19  system, and it has multi-levels of integration. But

         20  it does take a long time to retrofit an old system

         21  with the fiberoptics and whatnot that are required.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: See -- I'm sorry, go

         23  ahead.

         24                 MR. O'CONNELL: That is just the PACIS

         25  portion. The public address system that's
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          2  operational in about 300 stations, will be

          3  operational in 300 stations, that's in addition to

          4  it. You follow what I'm saying? It's not only what

          5  we have today, in addition to the installation of

          6  the PACIS system.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Do you think a PA

          8  system is necessary in the 131 stations that don't

          9  have it currently? Or is it like a luxury that we

         10  could do without for the time being?

         11                 MR. O'CONNELL: No. First of all, we

         12  do have a PA system in every station. Every railroad

         13  clerk, every token booth is equipped with a PA

         14  system. They communicate with the people in their

         15  general area, while they may not be able to

         16  communicate with everybody on the platform.

         17                 For example, should there be a delay

         18  in service? Most people know where to get

         19  information if it's not being provided. They go to

         20  the token booth.

         21                 The token booth can provide

         22  information based upon what they get from the

         23  control center. Every token booth is hooked up to an

         24  EBCS Mirenze Booth Communication Device (phonetic).

         25  They get firsthand information from the control
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          2  center, the clerks are responsible to pass that

          3  information onto the customers in their general

          4  area.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The PCAC testified

          6  and issued a report that says that there are

          7  deficiencies in the Emergency Response Plan. Now, I

          8  know you had testified earlier that -- well, you

          9  don't necessarily agree with that, because even

         10  though there's no separate section that's entitled

         11  communications, it's all throughout the emergency

         12  response plan. Would you say that in your opinion

         13  the New York City Transit's Emergency Response Plan

         14  adequately covers communications, protocols and

         15  procedures?

         16                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, as tested it did.

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL: It does every day.

         18                 MR. BOYLAN: We, on behalf of the

         19  system, communicated with hundreds of thousands of

         20  customers, and hundreds and hundreds of employees

         21  with the existing plan.

         22                 Does that mean that we're not going

         23  to look at it now and say, well, maybe we can

         24  identify the communications elements to demonstrate

         25  some of that to the PCAC, sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, Mr. O'Connell,

          3  you said before that the token booth, they have,

          4  they can speak from inside their token booth.

          5                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And project their

          7  voice in the immediate area.

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that token booth

         10  clerk would have very clear instructions based on

         11  the emergency response plan if something were to

         12  happen. And that that token booth clerk would be

         13  able to give clear instructions to everybody, at

         14  least everybody who can hear what that person is

         15  saying?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the sound system

         18  that the token booth clerk is using is clear and

         19  easily understood?

         20                 MR. O'CONNELL: In every case? I can't

         21  speak upon every single case.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What's a rough

         23  percentage of those sound systems that are in good

         24  repair?

         25                 Do you think nearly all of them are
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          2  in good repair? Do you think maybe three-quarters of

          3  them are in good repair or half?

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL: Do I believe

          5  electronic equipment breaks down from time to time?

          6  Of course I do.

          7                 We're making it better, as Mr. Boylan

          8  said. We're going to put the system onto

          9  fiberoptics.

         10                 Right now we just put our radio

         11  communication on fiberoptics in the new rail control

         12  center, and the improvement in the radio

         13  communication throughout the system is 100 percent.

         14  It's crystal -- areas where we had problems in the

         15  past are now crystal clear.

         16                 So, we're constantly making

         17  improvements in our ability to communicate, whether

         18  it be with customers or with our employees.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, there's no

         20  question, and I don't think any of us would question

         21  that the MTA tries to make, and indeed does make

         22  improvements continuously. What we question, and

         23  apparently the PCAC has questioned it as well in

         24  their report and in today's testimony, that the MTA

         25  simply doesn't have a sense of priority when it
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          2  comes to communications.

          3                 So, let me ask you this: The plan --

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's not --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Do you want to

          6  respond?

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL: You talk about

          8  priority. I mean, our employees are constantly --

          9  the day the Rapid Transit employees enter the

         10  system, they receive extensive training on

         11  communication. Everything from communicating with

         12  fellow employees, as well as to the customers. He

         13  gets recycled. Every two years they're brought back

         14  in and they're given additional training, refresher

         15  training we call it. We're very serious about

         16  communication. We're constantly, we have bullets in,

         17  we're constantly reminding our employees. We're

         18  constantly checking our employees. We have roaming

         19  supervisors that conduct evaluations on employees

         20  four times a year, and the top thing on that list is

         21  communication. Do they communicate well with one

         22  another? Do they communicate well with the public?

         23  We take communication very serious, and it's

         24  offensive that anybody would think we don't take

         25  communication seriously.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Your plan to upgrade

          3  the communication system was put in place at least

          4  seven years ago, and we certainly are all happy that

          5  on September 11th, New York City Transit did not

          6  lose anybody, and in fact evacuated everybody well

          7  from the system.

          8                 So, are you basically saying then

          9  that because you were successful on September 11th,

         10  there needed -- that the agency did not have to make

         11  any changes in its long-term plan to upgrade the

         12  communication's capabilities of the system?

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL: I think the fact that

         14  we're going forward, that we're going to liven up

         15  the A Division next year with 130 additional

         16  locations means that we're serious and we're going

         17  to continue to improve on our communication

         18  capabilities.

         19                 We're not stopping. We do everything

         20  we possibly can to communicate, I can assure you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That last part I

         22  didn't hear clearly. You said 130? Could you repeat

         23  that part?

         24                 MR. O'CONNELL: I think it's 137

         25  stations will be brought on line next year. The
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          2  entire A Division will be set up with PACIS.

          3                 MR. BOYLAN: No, I think we are

          4  concerned, and the difficult issue for us sometimes

          5  is communicating to the general public that a lot of

          6  these projects, technological projects and actually

          7  some capital investment projects that don't have any

          8  technological aspects take a long time to implement

          9  when you are doing two things, when they need to be

         10  designed and have never been designed for a system

         11  this size and scope of ours, and when you have to

         12  install them in a 24-hour-a-day operation.

         13                 Some other systems around the

         14  country, and I deal with a lot of them through our

         15  National Trade Association, have the luxury of doing

         16  some of this stuff on off hours. You know, they shut

         17  down at midnight and reopen again at six. That gives

         18  them a major advantage to do that.

         19                 There's a lot of things we could do

         20  in a short period of time, but we would not be able

         21  to serve the public during those periods of time.

         22                 You know, we probably could install

         23  some of these systems in six months or a year or two

         24  years, if you didn't run any service. But our job

         25  for this region, which is a 24-hour-a-day region, as
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          2  we all know, is to continue to run the service while

          3  we do those things.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, but I mean

          5  that's not what we're saying here.

          6                 What I'm getting at right now is that

          7  there doesn't seem to be any change, even after

          8  September 11th, so it almost seems as if the

          9  Authority is complacent because on September 11th it

         10  did a good job of evacuating people. And in my

         11  opinion, to illustrate that point, the project, the

         12  communications project, the enhancement of the

         13  ability to communicate with the riding public, that

         14  project was dropped from the current capital plan.

         15                 I mean, is that something that's

         16  supposed to make people feel more confident.

         17                 Why don't you take the mic, Michelle.

         18                 MR. BOYLAN: There are elements that

         19  were deferred.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, is that

         21  incorrect?

         22                 MR. BOYLAN: There are elements of the

         23  plan that depend on the ATS system to be in place.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The ATS; is that

         25  fiberoptic system?
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          2                 MR. BOYLAN: It's the train control

          3  system that we are constructing. And so those

          4  elements are not going to be in place in this

          5  current capital program. So, you would need to have

          6  them --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, you're saying

          8  that the PA systems -- I mean, in the PCAC's

          9  testimony it says that many of these stations were

         10  scheduled to receive public address equipment with

         11  the installation of the PACIS system in all B

         12  Division stations.

         13                 MR. BOYLAN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Unfortunately, this

         15  project was removed from the MTA's proposed

         16  2005-2009 capital program.

         17                 First of all, is that a correct

         18  statement?

         19                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Yes. When we had to

         20  scale back our capital program, which you remember,

         21  Transit had to look in the budget and see which, you

         22  know, to cut back to get to their target, based on

         23  the amount of funding we got from Albany. And you

         24  know, they looked at various things, and one of the

         25  things that they wound up recommending to be
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          2  deferred into the next program was the PACIS for the

          3  B Division. And the reason, as I was told at the

          4  time from Transit, was that what you wanted was to

          5  have ATS for the B Division completely in place

          6  before PACIS, and that's to get the real time

          7  information.

          8                 Basically we could have still put up

          9  signs, but it would have said have a nice day or

         10  good morning, not the next train is at Brooklyn

         11  Bridge.

         12                 So, it's all dependent.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But you could have

         14  communicated with those passengers in those stations

         15  in audio terms.

         16                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Well, I think as Kevin

         17  was saying, we already can do that at some level,

         18  right?

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL: Yes, let me try to

         20  make this a little clearer.

         21                 You know, I said originally that the

         22  program started, I took a guess, seven years ago,

         23  maybe even longer. Originally, if my memory serves

         24  me correctly, I don't want to -- we were going to

         25  install the PACIS system and we were going to
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          2  operate it with people.

          3                 As the control center, we were going

          4  to use people to input the information into the

          5  system. Well, we found out when we started our new

          6  control center, all this information would be

          7  entered in automatically, and we would get this real

          8  time information, and it would be extremely

          9  inexpensive to do it.

         10                 And all we're doing is, we're not

         11  giving up any PA systems on the B Division, what

         12  we're doing is waiting to get that platform that

         13  will support a modern state-of-the-art type of

         14  information system.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's fine. But I

         16  hear that you don't want to go the intermediate step

         17  of putting in a system that actually requires people

         18  involved, and you would like to go straight to a

         19  system that doesn't require these human operators to

         20  be involved.

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL: No, maybe I didn't

         22  explain it correctly. It's usually old technology.

         23  But we've done something, and we recognize that, and

         24  we created a dedicated announcer program several

         25  years ago and these are people -- which we never had
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          2  before. These are people that do nothing but make

          3  announcements to the public for normal delays and

          4  for general order special type work. And during all

          5  of those, during the 9/11 incident, every dedicated

          6  announcer was deployed.

          7                 That was one of the reasons why we

          8  were able to communicate with the public so well,

          9  because we had an entire staff of dedicated

         10  announcers working around the clock to ensure they

         11  got the information.

         12                 MR. BOYLAN: And until the more

         13  sophisticated system is in place, they will continue

         14  to do it.

         15                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's right. That's

         16  exactly right.

         17                 MR. BOYLAN: So, it is

         18  people-intensive system. It's not like we're leaving

         19  the system naked until the PACIS system is

         20  installed. There are alternatives.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You're testifying,

         22  and, Michelle, just for the record, it was Michelle

         23  Goldstein. What's your title again?

         24                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Director of Government

         25  Affairs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Michelle Goldstein,

          3  Director of Governmental Affairs that had offered

          4  the comments before on why the project was deferred

          5  from the 2005-2009 capital program.

          6                 You're testifying that it was pushed

          7  from the capital program. Michelle, you actually

          8  gave two reasons, Christopher only gave one reason,

          9  right? Mr. Boylan only gave the reason that they

         10  wanted the ATS to be up and running before the PACIS

         11  was installed? You offered that answer secondary to,

         12  while there were some decisions that had to be made,

         13  because not enough funding came through.

         14                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Right, I linked those.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's fine.

         16                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: That, you know, you

         17  decided to move something --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's fine. That's

         19  the real world that we live in here. But it still

         20  does speak to priorities.

         21                 Now, what I'd like to get at is

         22  whether the ATS system is actually required in order

         23  for the PACIS system to work; and so far my

         24  understanding is, no, it's not required. It's

         25  probably most efficient in long term to be able to
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          2  go to that interface right away.

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL: It is required. No one

          4  could possibly keep up with every single train,

          5  whether it's a minute ahead or a minute behind. We

          6  run 570 some odd trains every day. It would be

          7  humanely impossible to keep up with the -- you need

          8  computers to do that. That's what ATS will do. It

          9  will put the PCA on its system and tell you exactly

         10  where every single train is and how late and how

         11  ahead of schedule or how behind schedule it is.

         12                 MR. BOYLAN: And if I can just back

         13  up, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 The fact that that even got shifted

         15  doesn't really relate to what our priorities are.

         16  Our priorities are still to communicate with our

         17  customers, and that's why Kevin was talking about

         18  the announcers that go out there and do that. That

         19  is a priority for us, communicating with our

         20  customers is a priority.

         21                 So, how ever long it may take the

         22  PACIS system, the communication is still a priority,

         23  it's just a people priority until it becomes a

         24  technological priority.

         25                 So, we have layers to make sure that
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          2  we are covered in terms of communicating. It's not

          3  that anybody is not going to get that communication

          4  element while we wait for the PACIS system to come

          5  on board.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, it's fine

          7  that you're moving, you're making progress in being

          8  able to communicate ongoing basis operationally with

          9  passengers.

         10                 There still leaves the question of

         11  what happens in an emergency situation. And so far

         12  it seems like in an emergency situation, when you

         13  have to communicate with the public, you'll send

         14  these employees down there to the location.

         15                 MR. O'CONNELL: No. We staff those

         16  locations, and some of them are 24/7 and some of

         17  them are just for am and pm, it depends on the needs

         18  of the service.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is there a plan? It

         20  doesn't seem like there's any plan to get

         21  communication systems up and running more quickly in

         22  those stations that don't have a system in place

         23  right now.

         24                 It's simply going to be at the same

         25  pace as getting the regular ongoing operational
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          2  communication system in place.

          3                 You know, 30 percent of the subway

          4  stations don't have a system, apart from that token

          5  booth speaker. And what we're hearing is that

          6  eventually, hopefully by 2014 at this point, the

          7  Transit Authority expects to have those systems, the

          8  PA systems installed in those stations that

          9  currently lack them.

         10                 And that's part of a project to

         11  strengthen the ongoing communications, even just

         12  letting people know about delays and things like

         13  that.

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's not all

         15  together accurate. Those locations that are going to

         16  be equipped in the B Division with PACIS already

         17  have, most of them have public address systems.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, then it still

         19  begs the question of what's happening with those 131

         20  stations, 30 percent of all the subway stations that

         21  don't have PA systems.

         22                 MR. O'CONNELL: Well, as we said, that

         23  will come.  When the ATS platform is installed on

         24  the B Division, that will come about.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But not by 2014?
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          2                 Because 2014 is when you expect --

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL: You're making it sound

          4  like --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You're going to try

          6  to get the Division B stations into the next capital

          7  plan to be completed by 2014. But most of those

          8  Division B stations already have PA systems. So,

          9  what about the stations that don't have PA systems?

         10                 MR. O'CONNELL: Well, as I said

         11  before, every railroad clerk has a public address --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I don't think you

         13  could call it a public address system. It's a

         14  speaker coming from the token booth.

         15                 MR. O'CONNELL: And can communicate

         16  with people in the general area about delays.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How many feet of

         18  general area?

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL: You've got to remember

         20  that there's other ways of getting, there's other

         21  ways of getting information.

         22                 There are other means of getting

         23  information. Customers can get information from

         24  public address systems on trains. They can get

         25  information from other employees that are posed
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          2  throughout the system. There's just not one means of

          3  communication. The clerks are required to write the

          4  delay information and the alternate means of service

          5  on those grease boards.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're not talking

          7  about ongoing operations communications, letting

          8  people know about delays as such.

          9                 We're talking about an emergency

         10  crisis that is not planned, is not anticipated in

         11  any way. It happens. And how do you communicate

         12  instructions to the riding public at that point?

         13                 The token booth clerk is not going to

         14  be able to start scribbling on that wet dry board

         15  the instructions for all of the riders to follow.

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL: When there is a major

         17  delay or a major incident taking place, there is a

         18  very large network behind the scenes that's

         19  communicating with everybody. We call it "six wire."

         20  It communicates with the police and all of our other

         21  operating departments and it advises them of what's

         22  going on.

         23                 At the same time we're communicating

         24  with people on trains and our dedicated announcers

         25  are communicating with people. The Station Division,
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          2  the booths are getting updated as to what's going

          3  on, they're able to provide information. They're

          4  able to make announcements in the general area.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, you're saying PA

          6  systems aren't really necessary?

          7                 I mean, you are saying there are lots

          8  of other ways to communicate, so PA systems aren't

          9  --

         10                 MR. O'CONNELL: I never said that, and

         11  I wouldn't imply that either.

         12                 We wouldn't be going, we wouldn't be

         13  putting in an ATS system and a PACIS overlay,

         14  providing that sort of updated information, that

         15  very detailed, very graphic information.

         16                 I can see you're concerned that it's

         17  not going to happen as soon as you would like it,

         18  but I can assure you, we have processes and we have

         19  procedures in place to ensure the public is being

         20  communicated with.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Our concern is never

         22  that it's not going to happen as quickly as we would

         23  like.

         24                 Nothing happens as quickly as any of

         25  us like it. Our concern is that there is not a
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          2  priority being placed on communicating with the

          3  public.

          4                 And quite frankly, Mr. O'Connell,

          5  your testimony does imply that PA systems are not

          6  all that necessary because, as you stated, there are

          7  other means of communicating with the public.

          8                 Now, I think you're right, because

          9  your perspective seems to be from the operational

         10  end. The regular, every day operating end. But what

         11  we're concerned about is what happens? How does the

         12  Transit Authority communicate with the riding public

         13  in an emergency situation, in a crisis? During a

         14  fire, during a flood, during a terror attack, what

         15  happens?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL: I think we communicate

         17  very well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How can you

         19  communicate without a PA system? Really. How can you

         20  communicate without a PA system in a station. The

         21  token booth clerk might be able to scream into his

         22  intercom, which is that's exactly what it is. It's

         23  an intercom. People standing within ten or 15 feet

         24  of the token booth probably can hear what's being

         25  said. But what about people on the platform, people
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          2  on the end of the platform? There are lots of

          3  stations where people congregate at either end of

          4  the platform because that's where the next exits are

          5  or that's where the connection points are. How do

          6  you communicate with those people during an

          7  emergency situation?

          8                 MR. BOYLAN: My sense is that if it's

          9  an emergency in that particular station, that token

         10  booth clerk is going to make sure that the station

         11  is covered.

         12                 Stop me if I'm wrong, but an

         13  emergency in other parts of the system, there are

         14  ways that that would be communicated through trained

         15  personnel and through some station personnel and

         16  supervisors that are dispatched to the scene. We

         17  haven't had a situation where we've left people just

         18  totally uninformed on those platforms for any

         19  extended periods of time.

         20                 The information does get passed down

         21  to our customers through a variety of means. And

         22  clearly, we don't think it's ideal, and that's why

         23  we want to put in the PACIS system, so it is

         24  improved. But until such time as the system is in

         25  place, we will be continuing to use those people to
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          2  communicate the way we've communicated for many,

          3  many years, and successfully.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You're basically

          5  saying that there is not really an urgent need to

          6  change the plan that you already put in place at

          7  least seven years ago, before September 11th

          8  occurred, before the terror attacks occurred in

          9  London, in Madrid, in Moscow, in other places.

         10                 So, it's basically you had a plan

         11  that was put in place at least seven years ago,

         12  that's the plan, you're going to go forward with it.

         13  I wish you good luck.

         14                 We have lots of questions from my

         15  colleagues here. I want to turn my floor over to

         16  them, but I do want to ask you about one other area.

         17                 We talked about communicating. We

         18  talked about the MTA being able to communicate with

         19  the public during an emergency.

         20                 But there could be emergencies that

         21  rely on the public being able to communicate with

         22  the MTA. Your world renown See Something Say

         23  Something Campaign; are people able to say

         24  something, if they see something?

         25                 What is the mechanism for people to
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          2  get in touch with the MTA?

          3                 MR. BOYLAN: Yes. And in fact, we

          4  started that campaign about three years ago. It's

          5  been remarkably successful. The line, as you may

          6  know, is the NYPD's terrorism hot line, and all the

          7  calls come into that system to the NYPD and we are

          8  informed immediately and in terms of our

          9  communication with the NYPD, if there are any

         10  situations that we need to be directly involved

         11  with. The line after London, the number of calls

         12  increased by three-fold. We know that our customers

         13  know about the line and they use it on a regular

         14  basis.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is that a telephone

         16  line?

         17                 MR. BOYLAN: It is. It's a toll-free

         18  line, Mr. Chairman, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, if someone sees

         20  something and they want to say something?

         21                 MR. BOYLAN: That's the best thing

         22  they can do is call 1-888-NYCSAFE.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And if they see

         24  something on a subway train --

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: They can talk to one of
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          2  our employees, also, too.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, they go to

          4  the driver or in some cases the conductor.

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: Or station personnel or

          6  station agents who are walking through the station,

          7  sure. A bus driver.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, in other words,

          9  people are expected to call the number, or to get to

         10  an employee?

         11                 MR. BOYLAN: That's correct.

         12                 In fact, I think the words we use in

         13  the ads are "alert a police officer, train or bus

         14  operator, station personnel, or call 1-888-NYCSAFE."

         15  And frankly, people do. It gives them a sense of

         16  being able to control a situation that they think is

         17  unusual.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: In some of the

         19  subway cars, don't you have intercom systems that

         20  could link to an employee?

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL: Yes, that's correct.

         22  And our newer versions are the 142s and the 143s.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, I think that's

         24  a good idea.

         25                 MR. O'CONNELL: So do I.

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think that's going

          3  in the right direction.

          4                 In Washington, D.C., which is a

          5  system that you often like to compare to also, all

          6  of the trains have the intercom system.

          7                 MR. O'CONNELL: Eventually so will

          8  ours.

          9                 MR. BOYLAN: In fact, as I mentioned

         10  earlier on, we have about 1,600 of the R 142 and the

         11  142-A trains on line and another couple hundred of

         12  143s. As we replace those cars, we're hoping to

         13  replace another 1,000 in this capital plan, all of

         14  those things will become available to our customers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And is that intercom

         16  system that riders can use now a requirement in new

         17  cars being purchased?

         18                 MR. O'CONNELL: Yes, it is.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         20                 We have questions from Council Member

         21  Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 And Mr. Boylan and Mr. O'Connell, I

         25  really appreciate your time here today on this
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          2  important issue regarding communication, with

          3  regards to emergencies.

          4                 To me, personally, I think this is a

          5  time of the essence issue. I personally think that

          6  we need to obviously upgrade and obviously get the

          7  communications going with the PA system as soon as

          8  possible. Do you agree? Time of the essence, do you

          9  agree?

         10                 MR. BOYLAN: Yes, I do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         12                 To your point, Mr. O'Connell, getting

         13  information when you're on the car, I'll give you

         14  the scenario, the situation.

         15                 Part of my district down in Rockaway,

         16  that is the southern most part of service that you

         17  provide to City residents, okay? Southern most part,

         18  these residents who get on the, say Beach 116

         19  station down in Rockaway, if they don't get the

         20  information prior to getting on the car, they are

         21  getting on the car at the southern-most part of the

         22  City and have to travel north and obviously get into

         23  the City that way, a trip that takes them over

         24  water, Jamaica Bay. They have many stops to get to

         25  before getting into the City. They don't get that
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          2  information obviously from the station. If they

          3  don't get it from the station, they are on a car and

          4  possibly stuck on a car, okay? Isolated to an

          5  extent, if that PA system is not working.

          6                 Do you see the point?

          7                 MR. BOYLAN: Sure do.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

          9                 What is the criteria for prioritizing

         10  the remaining stations for the PA system? What is

         11  the criteria for prioritizing what needs to be done

         12  in the remaining stations?

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL: In other words, the

         14  order in which they're going to be done?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Right.

         16                 MR. BOYLAN: If you don't have it --

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL: I'm not sure how the

         18  CPM, how they've decided. I'm sure it's probably

         19  based upon volume of people. That's generally

         20  because there isn't a transfer location, or there

         21  isn't a high density station that doesn't have a PA,

         22  so I would imagine it's volume.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I'm going to

         24  just respectfully request that you use geographic

         25  location as well. Because maybe Beach 116 is not the
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          2  most populated or used, but, again, being the most

          3  southern part of your service that you provide,

          4  these residents are somewhat isolated. And I just

          5  ask, respectfully request, that you, again, at least

          6  consider geographic location when prioritizing

          7  stations.

          8                 How many MTA employees are so

          9  authorized to go out to these remaining 131 stations

         10  and, again, look at these stations and say, okay,

         11  these are the priority, to do the work. How many

         12  people authorize to do that work and go inspect and

         13  review where the work needs to be done?

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL: I can't answer that.

         15                 MR. BOYLAN: Those may be numbers that

         16  we don't have at our disposal. We'll look at both

         17  how we prioritize stations and, you know, my sense

         18  is that if it's done in our Capital Program

         19  Division, which I assume it is, that we send people

         20  out and they analyze station conditions, and the

         21  level of equipment that are in those stations and so

         22  forth, we will get you that information.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: You don't

         24  have an idea of how many people are out there

         25  reviewing these stations and figuring out a
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          2  priority?

          3                 MR. BOYLAN: We don't here, but we

          4  will get you the answer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: All right,

          6  because I think that's important.

          7                 You know, if I find out that there is

          8  two people researching the entire City for the

          9  remaining stations, I'm going to say, again, you're

         10  right, the priority is not there, and time is not of

         11  the essence in your opinion. I'm hoping that it's

         12  more than two, so-to-speak.

         13                 Again, I think the actions that the

         14  MTA takes shows its intent on how big of a priority

         15  this is, and if you do say time is of the essence,

         16  your actions will dictate whether it is or not.

         17                 Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         20  Member Addabbo. Council Member Koppell.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm glad to

         22  hear that there's not going to be an emergency until

         23  2014. I'm relieved to hear that this morning.

         24                 Let me ask you this, is every station

         25  where the token booth is on a different level than
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          2  the platform, do every one of those stations have a

          3  public address system?

          4                 MR. O'CONNELL: It's my understanding

          5  every token booth has a public address system.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, no. That

          7  contradicts what you just said.

          8                 Every token booth has a speaker,

          9  right? That's what you're saying?

         10                 MR. O'CONNELL: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: What I'm

         12  asking actually relates to that.

         13                 Does every station where the token

         14  booth is on a different level from the platform have

         15  a speaker system that reaches the platform?

         16                 MR. O'CONNELL: I can't answer that

         17  question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

         19                 Well, clearly the speaker system in

         20  the token booth, where it's two flights of stairs

         21  above the platform, as it is in several places in my

         22  district, is useless in communicating with people

         23  who are down on the platform.

         24                 Now, are you telling me that it costs

         25  a lot of money to extend that speaker that's in the
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          2  token booth to the platform in each of these

          3  stations so that the token booth could -- token

          4  clerk, I'm sorry, -- could communicate with the

          5  platform? Is that an expensive proposition?

          6                 MR. BOYLAN: Let me just back up for

          7  one second.

          8                 What specific emergency, unless it

          9  was in that station, would you be endangering those

         10  customers if they are on our platform by immediately

         11  communicating with? There's no service that's coming

         12  through there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You might

         14  want to tell them to leave the station immediately,

         15  right?

         16                 MR. BOYLAN: If there is some

         17  immediate threat to that particular station, we

         18  would in fact have personnel who would respond to

         19  the station, whether they're emergency personnel or

         20  whether they're dispatch personnel.

         21                 MR. O'CONNELL: We can direct the

         22  person assigned to that station, if it was just a

         23  railroad, we would just close the booth and go out

         24  and tell the people to leave.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, then
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          2  you're saying you're really answering the Chairman's

          3  question honestly now in saying that you don't think

          4  that a public address system in the station is

          5  important?

          6                 MR. BOYLAN: No, no. We didn't say

          7  that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But that is

          9  what you're saying. Oh, it's not important in an

         10  emergency, right?

         11                 MR. BOYLAN: No, what we're saying is

         12  it is important in an emergency, as an adjunct to

         13  what we have been operating with for a long time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If it's

         15  important in an emergency, why are you not

         16  installing it? Because I don't believe that it's

         17  expensive to install speakers in a station that

         18  connect with a token booth. That just can't be that

         19  expensive a proposition, that we have to wait until

         20  2014 to have that.

         21                 I understand that we have to wait

         22  until 2014 to have this high-tech system that tells

         23  you when each train is going to arrive at the

         24  station. But we certainly don't need to wait until

         25  2014 to have a system where the token booth can talk
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          2  to everybody in the station. I can't imagine that

          3  costing more than literally a few thousand dollars.

          4  And either it's important or it isn't important.

          5                 If you want to say it's not

          6  important, fine, then say that, and maybe I'll agree

          7  and maybe I won't agree. But don't say it's

          8  important and then say you can't do it. Because if

          9  it's important you could do it, and you could do it

         10  in a matter of months.

         11                 So, is it important or isn't it

         12  important?

         13                 MR. BOYLAN: It's important, and we'll

         14  take your comments back.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, thank

         16  you.

         17                 MR. BOYLAN: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Boylan, thank

         19  you for that last comment.

         20                 MR. BOYLAN: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We hold these

         22  hearings to try to impress upon you the concerns

         23  that -- these aren't concerns that we just make up

         24  out of thin air. We hear from our constituents time

         25  and time over and over again. And, so, if you could
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          2  really go back and take a look at whether it's

          3  feasible just to connect a few speaker wires and a

          4  few speakers in the system. I agree with Council

          5  Member Koppell, it is not that expensive.

          6                 That way, people at least have some

          7  comfort that if something happens in a station, you

          8  can tell them right away, and not even wait the few

          9  minutes that it takes to send someone running on the

         10  platform. After all, that's why we have telephone

         11  service today in the modern world, that people can

         12  communicate instantaneously with each other, before

         13  having to come into personal contact.

         14                 We have questions from Council Member

         15  Koppell.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Just

         17  illustrate, the 205th Street Station, and Bainbridge

         18  Avenue, the token booth is two flights of stairs

         19  above the platform. Whatever the token booth clerk

         20  says on his microphone is totally unheard on the

         21  platform. That's an example. Now, maybe you have a

         22  public address system in that station, maybe you

         23  don't.

         24                 MR. O'CONNELL: We do have one there.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: There's no
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          2  need -- to say that there's a microphone in the

          3  booth doesn't do any good.

          4                 In the 231st Street and Broadway

          5  Station, it's a very long platform. The token booth

          6  is way back at one end, and the passengers might be

          7  way at the other end. If they have to leave that

          8  platform quickly because of some emergency, it

          9  should be a public address system that says to them

         10  move back, get off the platform.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         12  Member Koppell.

         13                 Council Member Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. The

         15  question is, obviously I represent the west side, so

         16  I don't have out-of-doors stations, but just picking

         17  up on that, a little bit higher tech, if your

         18  website, which is excellent, is real time, then with

         19  antennas, a monitor and a small kiosk, you could

         20  achieve the same function, which is a

         21  on-the-platform information, could even be static

         22  with just your site, and that would create the

         23  ability for people to see not just in emergencies,

         24  but sometimes a very slow train can be an emergency

         25  to somebody who is trying to get some place on time.
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          2  And while we're discussing emergencies, like

          3  everything else, if we put systems in place for

          4  emergencies, they can also help the every day

          5  problem.

          6                 Is that something you have thought

          7  about, antenna, kiosk, monitor, information, real

          8  time, et cetera? Obviously it would not work

          9  everywhere, out of doors it will work.

         10                 MR. BOYLAN: It's an interesting

         11  suggestion. I can't tell you we've spent a lot of

         12  time looking at that particular solution to the

         13  problem, but we'll take it under advisement and look

         14  at what technologies are available.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         16                 MR. BOYLAN: Sometimes when you're

         17  dealing with radio frequencies on those train

         18  platforms, what you run into is you run into

         19  conflicts with the actual communications on the

         20  trains themselves.

         21                 But we will look --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: There's a guy

         23  from Motorola with a little mesh who can do it very

         24  well, and I know his name and number.

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: Okay. Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I actually

          3  could almost do it myself.

          4                 The other question I have is, when

          5  you send out your wonderful letters regarding what's

          6  going on with the two or three more cars, very

          7  appreciated, could we also get an update on what is

          8  available communication-wise in our stations?

          9                 I know you just sent us a terrific

         10  letter. Maybe it came from the great Lois Tenler or

         11  someone else, regarding what is happening with the

         12  cars. But it would be helpful to update us on this

         13  issue also. Is that possible?

         14                 MR. BOYLAN: That is possible.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         16                 And then just finally, when you are

         17  connecting the data in the MetroCards, obviously

         18  that is what's connecting, these are MetroCards,

         19  it's fiber, it produces the ability to go in and out

         20  of the stations, information is collected. Why is

         21  that not able to also piggy-back to create some of

         22  these other systems?

         23                 MR. BOYLAN: You're talking about

         24  using the fiberoptic system?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I am.
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          2  MetroCard works.

          3                 MR. BOYLAN: I'm not technically

          4  proficient enough to answer that question. It's a

          5  question I will get you an answer to, but I --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It wouldn't be

          7  on the trains. I'm talking about on the platforms

          8  now and on the stations.

          9                 MR. BOYLAN: Right. Right.

         10                 You know, I do know that the PACIS

         11  system is going to use the fiberoptic system that

         12  has been installed already. But there are brand new

         13  branches that need to be brought to the system. So,

         14  it may not preclude what you're actually talking

         15  about. But not being a technician, I don't know the

         16  exact answer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         18                 This comes up a lot in the hearings

         19  that we have on the Technology Committee.

         20                 MR. BOYLAN: Okay.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And the

         22  question is why it can't be done. And I just think

         23  it's changing very quickly and sometimes, I'm not

         24  talking about the trains now, I'm talking about the

         25  stations, connecting the stations, and I do think
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          2  that you're not pushing enough on the technology and

          3  I do think more of it is there from the people that

          4  we talk to every single day in the industry.

          5                 I just throw that out. But I do know

          6  wireless or the Wi-Max can definitely provide real

          7  time service in terms of your website for the

          8  outdoor stations?

          9                 MR. BOYLAN: I'm glad you like our

         10  website.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I like your

         12  website, but nobody can see it if you're on the

         13  station, so you need to be able to provide it.

         14                 MR. BOYLAN: Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         18  Member Brewer. And thank you for your work as

         19  Chairperson of our Technology In Government

         20  Committee.

         21                 I just have a couple of follow-ups

         22  and then we'll be done.

         23                 One is about, nearly three years ago

         24  the MTA had announced that they would invest $591

         25  million into terror-proofing the system. And I'm not
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          2  going to ask you the particulars about that, but as

          3  soon as the MTA announced that investment, this

          4  Committee said very clearly, communications,

          5  upgrading the communications has to be the first

          6  thing that you do when you're looking to

          7  terror-proof the system.

          8                 Terror-proofing the system includes,

          9  in our opinion, hardening the system against attack.

         10  It also includes minimizing damages that might occur

         11  if something were to happen, and communicating with

         12  the riders is a paramount concern.

         13                 So, it appears, though, so far, I

         14  mean we've gotten some information, only through

         15  public channels, of what the MTA is planning to do

         16  with the nearly $600 million announced about three

         17  years ago, and the subsequent, another half a

         18  billion dollars that is part of the current capital

         19  plan.

         20                 But communications upgrades is still

         21  not a part of that mix?

         22                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, you know, the

         23  system that we have planned, the PACIS system, if we

         24  hadn't thought of it before 9/11, we certainly would

         25  have thought of it after 9/11, because it does
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          2  provide you with the kind of emergency

          3  communications abilities that you want in an

          4  emergency, visual and audio.

          5                 But that was already on track, so

          6  those were things that were already budgeted for.

          7                 There are other areas of investment

          8  that we have made, both short and long term, that go

          9  to the heart of protecting the system immediately. I

         10  mean, I don't think that adding additional money

         11  into the mix probably would speed up what we're

         12  talking about, in terms of installing the PACIS

         13  system. I think it's a matter of technology being

         14  right, a matter of some of the infrastructure issues

         15  that we have to overcome to install them. So, I'm

         16  not sure that adding additional security dollars to

         17  the mix would have sped it up, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 But we are, obviously, concerned

         19  about the security investments. We've made

         20  tremendous progress. I think the issue about how

         21  much of the $600 million we've spent on things in

         22  general kind of got muddied by the fact that in the

         23  two or three years that we've been implementing that

         24  $600 million plan, we have had to do a whole host of

         25  things to look at what the best solutions are, and

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  some of the thoughts we had three years ago, in

          3  terms of hardening the system, are very different

          4  from what actually makes sense from an engineering

          5  perspective.

          6                 You know --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right, Chris,

          8  you don't have to get into that plan. I mean, you're

          9  tempting me to start asking other questions, and I

         10  don't, you know, that's probably beyond the scope of

         11  this hearing, but certainly within the scope of a

         12  hearing that we will hold well before the end of

         13  this year.

         14                 MR. BOYLAN: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But still, your

         16  comments about it not necessarily being helpful if

         17  some of the $600 million were used to upgrade the

         18  communications system. That again reinforces the

         19  concept that, while you put in this PACIS plan at

         20  least seven years ago, and that's the plan that is

         21  going to -- the system, the Transit Authority is

         22  going to rely upon to communicate with passengers,

         23  whether it be regular every day business, or in an

         24  emergency situation.

         25                 Again, and reinforcing what Council
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          2  Member Koppell asked you to do, we think it has to

          3  be more than that.

          4                 Today, in the world that we live in

          5  today, emergency communications has to have a much

          6  higher priority. You can't just go along with the

          7  same plan that was in place well before 9/11, well

          8  before Madrid, well before London. It has to be a

          9  higher priority. And I think the PCAC in their

         10  report also says that the MTA needs to place a

         11  higher priority on the emergency communications.

         12                 My last question goes back to, again,

         13  as some comments that Michelle had offered, which is

         14  that partly due to budget concerns, because the MTA

         15  capital budget had not been fully funded. That was

         16  part of the reason why this project was deferred.

         17                 Roughly, are we talking about -- I

         18  mean, what part of the capital budget was this

         19  project in?

         20                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: New York City Transit.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Was that in the core

         22  program or kind of like the expansion program?

         23                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Core.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that was

         25  originally, at the beginning of this year it was
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          2  part of a $17.1 billion program?

          3                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Sounds about right. I

          4  haven't looked at the numbers in a little bit.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

          6                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: I think that's right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, when Albany

          8  passed the budget in April, the MTA was short $1.2

          9  billion, in the Albany capital plan.

         10                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Eight-hundred

         12  thirty-million dollars of that was a shortfall in

         13  the subway capital plan.

         14                 In other words, $830 million was a

         15  subset of the $1.2 billion that was short from the

         16  $17.1 billion core program. So is this one of the

         17  items in the $830 million --

         18                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: This was a subset of

         19  the 830. But I do want to set the record straight

         20  that what I said was this was, you know, we looked

         21  at this again when we had to reduce the '05-'09

         22  capital program for New York City Transit, and I

         23  think you're right, you know, about where it sits,

         24  but it wasn't going to be ready to be on line PACIS

         25  for the B Division, because ATS for the B Division
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          2  is going to be completed in the next program.

          3                 It was something that was taken out

          4  but it was because of the timing with the data

          5  network and the ATS, all of which has to come in

          6  before PACIS, which is, as you know, a lot more than

          7  just a public address system and takes all these

          8  elements.

          9                 But, yes, it was part of New York

         10  City Transit.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And obviously Mr.

         12  O'Connell answered this before, but I want to ask

         13  you again. Is the ATS absolutely essential for, to

         14  be -- is it absolutely essential for the ATS to be

         15  installed before PACIS can be operational, even just

         16  as a public address system?

         17                 I mean, the ATS is a communications

         18  -- you communicate between a central location and

         19  the stations. What we're talking about is a public

         20  announcements, public address system that really

         21  doesn't require the communications from other

         22  stations or central --

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL: It's about design. And

         24  I'm not an engineer, but the system is designed in

         25  such a way to accept it. That's how they're
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          2  building, to lay on that ATS platform. Can it be

          3  done? I'm not even --

          4                 MR. BOYLAN: Your question deserves a

          5  full answer, and we will get you a full answer.

          6  Because, you know, if there are public address

          7  elements of it that can be used prior to the

          8  integration of all the other information, that's a

          9  valid question and we'll get an answer for you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         11                 And so, Michelle, since the deferral

         12  of this project was part of $830 million, and,

         13  again, and that was part of the 12 station

         14  renovations that were cancelled because it was $830

         15  million short?

         16                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: They were deferred,

         17  yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That was April. And

         19  you know, I've said this to you guys already, that

         20  was April and in July you found $833 million of

         21  surplus, so it's very simple. Just use the $833

         22  million to plug that $830 million debt that you

         23  found just three months earlier. And forget this

         24  nonsense about half a billion dollars on a platform.

         25                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: I think we're
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          2  considering, you know, all options.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          4                 MS. GOLDSTEIN: And I'll take that

          5  back.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. And just

          7  even the words that -- even your words, whenever you

          8  say "we'll consider," that's like, that's so

          9  gratifying to us. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         11                 Council Member Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just want to

         13  say, this article in the times is all about Wi-Fi

         14  Mesh, and how it's possible to do it very

         15  inexpensively. Please.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         17                 One last question from Council Member

         18  Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, in just

         20  thinking about this, which I was talking about

         21  before, I have MetroNorth stations. In the recent

         22  times now they tell you, if the train even five or

         23  ten minutes late, they make an announcement. It's a

         24  good thing to know that the train is five or ten

         25  minutes late.
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          2                 In the Bedford Park Station, for

          3  instance, Bedford Park Boulevard Station, also in my

          4  district, the token booth is a long flight of

          5  stairs, actually two flights of stairs below the

          6  elevated platform.

          7                 If you had a public address system

          8  and there was a communication to the token booth

          9  clerk that the trains were five or ten minutes late,

         10  and that could be communicated to people on the

         11  platform who are standing up there, sometimes not

         12  only two flights up but way down on the platform, in

         13  order for them to find out what's going on when the

         14  train doesn't come, they have to come way back down

         15  the platform and go down two flights of stairs. It

         16  would be nice if we had a public address system --

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL: There is one at

         18  Bedford Park.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, good.

         20  But there's 131 stations where there isn't one. And

         21  the fact is that there should be one in every one of

         22  those stations and there should be one there now.

         23  And there's no excuse, as I said before, for there

         24  not to be.

         25                 I'm glad to hear there's one at
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          2  Bedford Park. There should be one in every station.

          3  And I'm going to write to the Chairman, and demand

          4  on the behalf of the constituency that I serve and

          5  the whole City because I'm on this Committee, that

          6  every system have a public address system in place

          7  in six months.

          8                 I don't think that's unreasonable to

          9  ask. And I ask you of that today. Six months I want

         10  you to come back and tell the Chairman and tell me

         11  that there's a public address system in every

         12  station.

         13                 MR. BOYLAN: We took that down as an

         14  issue before and we'll carry it back.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         16  Member Koppell.

         17                 I want to thank you, Mr. Boylan, Mr.

         18  O'Connell and Ms. Goldstein for your comments today

         19  and for joining us in this hearing.

         20                 Next I'd like to invite Gene

         21  Russianoff from the NYPIRG Straphangers Campaign.

         22                 Thank you, Gene, for your patience in

         23  sitting through this long hearing.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon. I'm

         25  Gene Russianoff from the NYPIRG Straphangers
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          2  Campaign. Hello, Mr. Chairman and members of the

          3  Committee.

          4                 I'm going to be pretty brief since

          5  I'm basically here to say ditto to the report by the

          6  Permanent Citizens' Advisory Committee, and express

          7  our concerns about the state of some of the

          8  communications during emergencies and other times.

          9  Some of that is listed in my testimony.

         10                 What I would note is that our annual

         11  report show a continuing failure by New York City

         12  Transit to make announcements on subway cars that

         13  experience delays. So, in 2003, our study found that

         14  three of every four delays and disruptions

         15  experienced by surveyors, about 76 percent, there

         16  was either no announcement at all, or what we rated

         17  as an inaudible, garbled or useless one. And in

         18  fairness to the Authority, they do do a much better

         19  job on what we would call routine announcements.

         20  With these pre-recorded announcements, they tell you

         21  the name of the station and those our survey shows,

         22  those have gotten better.

         23                 I would also note that some of the

         24  improvements that Mr. Boylan noted, the Authority

         25  should get credit for. They're doing an e-mail
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          2  notification program that we had urged on them about

          3  plan delays, service delays during the weekends, and

          4  when there have been major service changes, like the

          5  Manhattan Bridge changes, they had a lot of

          6  personnel out, really planned extremely well, and

          7  the great Lois Tenler came through in those

          8  situations.

          9                 And one small suggestion by us,

         10  there's an emergency decal in each car that's very

         11  small. Maybe Council Member Koppell will remember

         12  it, it dates back to the early eighties, and

         13  basically tells you don't get off the train unless

         14  there's a personnel there, the third track is

         15  dangerous, but almost nobody sees it. So, they've

         16  agreed to put up ads, and they have put up ads

         17  urging people to look at the decal and know the

         18  rules when they're handing out brochures.

         19                 So, I think it's fair to say it is

         20  unfair to say the MTA hasn't taken communication

         21  seriously. Having said that, we share the PCAC's

         22  frustration at the very slow pace of making major

         23  communication changes.

         24                 My example from today, which is not

         25  an emergency, is that I was on an R Train at DeKalb,
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          2  and they made a terrible announcement basically

          3  saying the train wasn't running normally, and they

          4  didn't give you any clue as to what to do, and it

          5  was like six and one, half dozen of the other. It

          6  was kind of up to you. And I went over the bridge to

          7  Canal Street and waited half an hour for a train

          8  coming back again, and somebody somewhere must have

          9  known what was going on. Maybe they don't. Maybe

         10  that's why they make such poor announcements

         11  sometimes. It's very frustrating to the riding

         12  public. And what I think it shows is an agency that

         13  calls itself customer driven, but is really driven

         14  by getting trains from point A to point B. I think

         15  some of the back and forth here was very

         16  appropriate, because while the agency does a lot, I

         17  just don't think they've internalized what most New

         18  Yorkers think. Announcements are poor. I mean, it's

         19  not a shocking or controversial thing to make jokes

         20  about announcements in the system today, and there's

         21  a lot more they could do.

         22                 Anyway, coming into this hearing I

         23  was encouraged because the Executive Director of the

         24  MTA, Katherine Lapp, had said in the wake of the

         25  PCAC's report, that they were going to take a
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          2  thorough review of their announcement and

          3  communications policies. And my experience with her

          4  is she's a serious person, and she took it

          5  seriously.

          6                 Most of the testimony today by the

          7  MTA seemed to be rather defensive until you were

          8  able to sort of get them to say they'll consider

          9  some of these changes. And I was also surprised

         10  really that they weren't unhappy about the cut they

         11  received to their budget.  I mean, if I'm an agency,

         12  I'd take a shot at the politicians and say you

         13  didn't give us the money to do some of this stuff,

         14  because that's the case. They got about a billion

         15  dollars less than they wanted to from Albany and

         16  dropped some of their announcement programs.

         17                 It isn't entirely their fault because

         18  they're just not getting the level appropriations

         19  they need.

         20                 Anyway, we're also concerned because

         21  of recent communication problems in the way the TA

         22  handled the explosion of West 4th Street and a fire

         23  at York Street. So, it's not, you know, an abstract

         24  concern. There were riders there who were terrified,

         25  who were not communicated with, who were stuck under
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          2  trains for hours, who were told the wrong thing, and

          3  why did it happen? I think there are a complicated

          4  set of reasons, but it's a real concern. And I think

          5  to some level there is a level of complacency at the

          6  MTA about these things and they really should take

          7  it to heart.

          8                 So, I know the bottom line for me is

          9  Plan B, is that they should really seriously think

         10  about Councilman Koppell's suggestion that they put

         11  in PA systems. I'm shocked in the Year 2005 there

         12  are stations without anything like a PA. How could

         13  you possibly communicate?

         14                 And, of course there's things that

         15  concern the whole system that you want to tell the

         16  riders, like don't go into the City or go back to

         17  your homes, or there won't be another train for a

         18  half an hour. I mean, you know, normal things that

         19  you would want to do and not lead up to a port

         20  station agent to leave their booth and personally

         21  notify people on the platform about what's going on.

         22                 Lastly, in my testimony I had some

         23  questions for the MTA, most of which were asked by

         24  the Committee. And I applaud you for taking a look

         25  at this very important issue.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Gene.

          3                 Are we going out of our mind here, or

          4  did the MTA seem to feel that PA systems aren't that

          5  necessary?

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, I think you hit

          7  the nail on the head. They had a proposal that dated

          8  back before 2001. It was a good proposal, and I

          9  think the Executive Director of the PCAC, Beverly

         10  Dolinsky and myself, would say we've been frustrated

         11  by the slow pace of change. It's a good system. You

         12  really want passengers to know it will be five

         13  minutes or ten minutes, and having a liquid display

         14  up is a very good idea.

         15                 But I think given recent events, it's

         16  time to go back to the drawing boards and to think

         17  about what is the most immediate thing to be done.

         18  And they have, unfortunately, a track record at

         19  being very slow when it comes to software and to new

         20  systems. And it's still very much a 19th century

         21  operation, and so part of it's the mentality.

         22                 I know Mr. O'Connell, and I respect

         23  him a lot. I think he does great work for them,

         24  particularly when they have time to plan. But,

         25  again, I'd say I think there is a level of
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          2  complacency at the agency about the way they

          3  communicate, and not the kind of urgency that you

          4  would expect given world events.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There's no question

          6  that they like to plan carefully. But at some point

          7  none of us have an unlimited amount of time.

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: No. And the PACIS

          9  system has proven to be expensive and time

         10  consuming, and I think they are the wave of the

         11  future, but spending some small amount of money on

         12  public address systems at outer borough stations, as

         13  you know, I would have thought it would have

         14  occurred to, you know, the MTA a long time ago.

         15                 And I must admit, frankly, I was

         16  stunned to find out the number was so large. I'm not

         17  used to hearing public address announcements in the

         18  Bronx or in Brooklyn. I figured they could do it,

         19  but they would only do it under duress or under

         20  extreme circumstances. Little did I know that they

         21  don't have the equipment to do it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Thank you

         23  very much. Gene, thanks for being part of this

         24  hearing.

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There being no other

          3  speakers or witnesses at today's hearing, this

          4  meeting of the Committee on Transportation is

          5  adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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